#### DOCUMENT RESUME

ED 434 726 PS 027 832

AUTHOR Doverborg, Elisabet; Pramling, Ingrid

TITLE To Understand Children's Thinking: Methods for Interviewing

Children. Reports from Department of Methodology, University

of Goteborg, No. 5.

INSTITUTION Goteborg Univ., Molndol (Sweden). Dept. of Methodology.

ISBN ISBN-91-88510-08-5

PUB DATE 1993-04-00

NOTE 86p.; Translated by Helen L. Carlson.

PUB TYPE Guides - Non-Classroom (055) EDRS PRICE MF01/PC04 Plus Postage.

DESCRIPTORS \*Cognitive Processes; Elementary Education; Elementary

School Students; Foreign Countries; Interpersonal

Communication; \*Interviews; Preschool Children; Preschool Education; \*Questioning Techniques; Teacher Role; Thinking

Skills

IDENTIFIERS Clinical Interviews; Piaget (Jean)

#### ABSTRACT

Noting that interviews with preschool children can yield invaluable information regarding children's thinking and knowledge, this book presents information for preschool and primary school practitioners on an extension of Piaget's clinical interview method and provides examples of the process, analysis, and conclusions from interviews with young children. The book begins with a rationale for conducting interviews with children, notes that interviews can result in insights regarding children's perspectives on learning and their comprehension of the surrounding world, and suggests ways adults can use such insights in instruction. The book continues with detailed information on conducting interviews, including practical arrangements, using of group or individual interviews, questioning techniques, following up a question, and being an active conversation partner. Information and examples are presented regarding interpreting children's interviews, including information on reliability. The use of information obtained from children's interviews for evaluation planning and parental involvement is illustrated. The book also provides tips on using available time for conducting interviews. The book concludes with a discussion of children's interviews within a wider perspective and considers the potential clash between scientific thinking patterns developed at school and everyday thinking, children's spontaneous questions, the teacher's role, and cooperation between the preschools and other practitioners. Contains 37 references. (KB)

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION Office of Educational Research and Improvement EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)

This document has been reproduced as received from the person or organization originating it.

- ☐ Minor changes have been made to improve reproduction quality.
- Points of view or opinions stated in this document do not necessarily represent official OERI position or policy.

### ELISABET DOVERBORG INGRID PRAMLING

# TO UNDERSTAND CHILDRENS THINKING

METHODS FOR INTERVIEWING CHILDREN

PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE AND DISSEMINATE THIS MATERIAL HAS BEEN GRANTED BY

Ingrid Pramling

TO THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)



Reports from
Department of Methodology
UNIVERSITY OF GÖTEBORG
No. 5





# TO UNDERSTAND CHILDRENS THINKING

Methods for Interviewing Children

Elisabet Doverborg Ingrid Pramling

Translation by Helen L. Carlson, Ph. D.





Reports from
Department of Methodology
UNIVERSITY OF GÖTEBORG
Box 1010
431 26 MÖLNDAL

Nr. 5. April 1993 ISBN 91 88510 08 5



# Contents

Contents	1
Preface	4
Preface to the English Version	6
Introduction	8
Adapting the program to children	8
A trip into thechildren's world of thought	
Why Children's Interviews?	12
Perspective on learning	12
Children's comprehension of their surrounding world	15
The significance of the adults' comprehension of the children's world of thought	17
Children's thinking as a point of departure for pre- school work	21
How to Interview Children	24
Practical arrangements	24
Social contract	25
Individual or group interviews?	28
Posing Questions	31
Give the child time	31
Questioning techniques	31
Different Types of Questions	32
Tell me!	
Describe how!	33
General and specific questions	34
Direct and indirect questions	34
Use pictures to help	35



Statements!	35
The same questions - different contexts or different contents	36
Mixing difficult and easy questions	37
In an interview one should also think of questions of varying levels of difficulty so that easy and difficult questions are intermingled. This is important, partly so that the person interviewing can develop an understanding about which questions have some meaning when asked, and partly so that the child shall not be asked difficult questions at the end and not feel a failure	37
Questions develop through experience	37
Following up a question	37
Clear purpose combined with flexibility	40
Give the children a chance to develop their thinking	40
Changing direction	42
Be an active conversation partner	42
In conclusion	43
Interpreting Children's Interviews	44
The different answers given by the children	44
Children's thinking patterns	45
Category 1: Concrete actions with the T.V	46
Category 2: Education	46
Category 3: Concrete situations from the T.V	46
Category 4: Information from the T.V	46
Comments	47
Reliability	48
Using New Knowledge	53
Evaluation-planning	53



Connection between the pre-school and elementary school	56
Parental involvement	59
How to use the time available	61
Teacher's consciousness	61
Planning-Organization	62
Profit for pedagogy	63
Discussion	66
School world and everyday world	66
Children's spontaneous questions	67
The role of the teacher	69
Evaluating	73
Co-operating	75
References	79

#### Preface

Much of what we have written in this book *about* children has been learned *from* the children themselves, through experiences in both pre-school and teacher training.

Our interest in children's thinking began during the time we worked as pre-school teachers with children of various ages. We often reflected about what children really understood about their work. Sometimes we thought that children had misunderstood what we were teaching. They answered us and commented on their experiences in ways we had not intended or expected, showing us that they had not understood our intentions. We have also worked for a number of years as teachers at the college for pre-school and leisure centre teachers, visiting hundreds of pre-schools and leisure centres in the process, as well as some primary school classes. Although we did not have as deep a relationship with the children we visited as with the children in our own groups, we experienced time after time how children and teachers had understood the same situation in an entirely different manner. We became more and more interested in and attentive to what children gave expression to in their thoughts. We realized that we needed deeper knowledge. This led us to begin our research training in pedagogy, where we came to adjust our understanding of children's thinking, particularly related to learning and mathematics.

The contents of this book are as follows: In the first chapter an argument is presented for understanding the behavior of children in a pedagogical sense. The next three chapters deal with the interview techniques and analyses. After that we discuss the application of the children's interviews in the context of the teacher's working day. In the remaining chapters we discuss observations from a group conversation based interview. The book closes with a short discussion where we attempt to place child interviews in a wider perspective.

We wish to thank a number of people who have read our manuscript and given us valuable suggestions about the contents of



the book. We especially want to thank professors Ference Marton and Claes-Göran Wenestam, methods instructors Anita Eklöf and Margit Anevret, child care assistant Anita Stålbäck, education secretary Agneta Thorin, communications teacher Eva Delin, preschool supervisors Birgitta Sjöqvist, Lisbeth Ögren, Eva Josefsson and Nomi Mortsell, and pre-school teachers Gunilla Bergquist and Marie Tohrberg. A warm thank-you also to Maj Asplund Carlsson and Karin Delin for their help with the format of the finished manuscript. And last but not least we thank all the pre-school teachers who allowed us into their children's groups as well as all the children who so willingly shared their thoughts with us.



# Preface to the English Version

Sweden has been praised across the world for the quality of both its early childhood programs and the support given by the state for these programs. It has also served as a model for social legislation which supports the family with lengthy parental leaves with only a slightly reduced salary for one parent when a baby is born, parental leave with pay when children are sick, state "child-benefit" subsidies, lengthy vacations so that families can enjoy leisure time together, good housing standards and adequate medical care for all people. In addition there are laws which prohibit spanking and other abuse of children as well as equal opportunity legislation for women and other disadvantaged groups. A strong program for teaching immigrant children includes both Swedish and their own native language, so they can function and become part of Swedish society, and at the same time maintain their cultural roots and identity.

Before turning to some introductory comments about this book, a brief description of early childhood programs in Sweden needs to be given. One- to seven-year-old children who are not at home with their parents are largely served either by child care centres or by child minders and open pre-schools. We will deal with these briefly here.

Child care centres are public institutions which are mainly heavily subsidized by the government. They serve children aged between 1 and 7 years in age-integrated groups. A queue system operates in each municipality to allocate places to the centres, but children with special needs are given preferential placement opportunities. Family day care providers are used by municipalities to cover parents needs where child-care centres are not available in sufficient numbers. Day-care providers serve up to five children in their homes and are paid by the municipality regardless of child attendance patterns. Day care provision of this kind is usually given in conjunction with open pre-schools. These are available to both family day care providers and parents who stay at home with their children. At these pre-schools there are materials, activities,



and opportunities for adults who care for children in their home to meet and engage in discussion and conversation. A few parent cooperatives and even fewer privately sponsored early childhood programs are emerging.

From the age of six years and upwards, different facilities for day care are available. Six-year-old children are served by half-day pre-school programs which are very much like the half-day kindergarten programs in the USA and in some senses infant school reception classes in the UK. This form of pre-school is in itself a day care facility. Children who attended child care centres or received family day care provision prior to commencing pre-school continue to do so during the remainder of the day. Seven-year-old children begin compulsory school in Sweden, which is like the elementary school in the United States, but they usually need some form of day care outside of school hours. There are two ways of providing this and the leisure centre is one of these. Leisure centres provide child day care for children between 7 and 12 years of age, both before and after school if necessary.

This book addresses some curriculum relations of early childhood education in pre-schools, the lower compulsory school, and the leisure centre. Expanding upon Piaget's interview process, the book also describes a rationale for conducting interviews with children and suggests ways to analyze them. Furthermore, it describes how interviews can be used for both evaluation and instructional purposes to develop coherence and continuity between the different levels of education, a major concern among educators in Sweden today.

Written by Helen L. Carlson, PH. D., who also made the first draft for the translation of this book.

"Understanding children's thinking" was first published in Swedish in 1985.



#### Introduction

Through our research, we have come to understand part of children's thinking - an understanding that would have been of great value to us in our work as pre-school teachers. Throughout the book we will therefore attempt to teach pre-school teachers, leisure centre leaders, child care workers, primary school teachers, and teacher candidates about the necessity and pleasure of learning to interview children. The aim is to contribute new information to teachers and help them learn to understand more about the "children's world". We hope that through our examples, teachers will be able to improve their work with children. Our purpose is also to write an example of the process, analysis, and conclusions of the type of interview which we believe can be used by individual teachers to help them in their daily work.

The type of interview which we write about is similar to a conversation between children and adults. The aim is for children to disclose as much as possible about their ways of thinking and the contents of what they know. When we use "contents" we do not mean content in the traditional sense; we mean the theme, composition, elements or material of knowing or the experience of events, activities, notions or ideas. The method of working is an extension of Piaget's clinical interview method<sup>1</sup> and has an underlying character similar to the procedures used in some research processes. Writing examples about the interview process, analysis, and conclusions demands that one be accurate, systematic, and representative. Teachers do not need to regard all of these factors when carrying out interviews.

Adapting the program to children

Adapting methods and materials to children's levels of development and learning will be discussed in relation to both preschool<sup>2</sup> and primary school programs<sup>3</sup>.



The children who come to the pre-school are at different levels of learning development, which makes an enormous difference to the exchange of information there. According to legislation, children should be given new learning experiences in pre-school, but the execution of rules and regulations depends on how the work is seen in different children's groups. In school, children again meet a new reality which gives them new learning experiences. School legislation states that teachers should attempt to adapt instruction to the children's levels of development. To make both sets of school policies work, we must learn a way of knowing how children perceive their world.

There are different ways of understanding children's thinking and learning, and the nature of the information the teacher receives about children depends on which methods are used to gather this. This also applies to the form of the interview. Understanding children's thinking can be of great value for the teacher in her work with co-operation, planning, and evaluation, and directly affects her own competence related to the children, both younger and older. Observation has long been used as a conventional way to describe the learning of pre-school children. Tests and examinations have been used when evaluating primary school children. We wish to state that these two methods are neither suitable nor sufficient.

Today's talk of co-operation between the pre-school and primary school is often concerned with administration and organization. We believe co-operation should apply to the contents, methods and nature of the work<sup>4</sup>. Children's interviews can play a central role here and can be used to arrive at the contents of children's thinking surrounding central conceptions, principles, or ideas, so that one can create some continuity for them as they move from pre-school to primary school. Children's learning and development should form the primary focus for co-operation, not administrative and organizational needs.

Another good reason for conducting child interviews is that instruction and learning should always begin at the child's own level. In order to plan and prepare work, the teacher should know how children think, including the actual contents of the thoughts. This knowledge can be coupled directly to planning and evaluation



C

work. To meet children at their levels of development requires that planning and evaluation go hand in hand, particularly if the teacher's own reflected knowledge of her work and of child development are to increase. Here are some examples:

A pre-school had been working with the theme "The Past", and during an appraisal of the theme the teacher asked the children to give some examples. Some of these seemed unusual. One child for instance mentioned an aunt who they used to know and who had recently come to visit them. At another pre-school the theme had been "Respect and Consideration". The teacher introduced the theme with a box of chalk overturned which the children helped pick up and in subsequent days she tried to teach the idea of respect with other concrete illustrations, before on completion of the theme asking the children if they remembered what they had learned. A child turned and looked at the floor and said, "I haven't spilled anything". Examples can also be taken from the primary school. One school had been teaching about temperature. When asked what they had learned about this, one child said that they had learned how to make a thermometer.

Reactions such as the above should lead teachers to begin to wonder if there are some mistakes in their teaching strategies, or if the content is too advanced or maybe irrelevant for the children. Interviews make clear what children think, but they can also be a goal in instruction and in developing continuity between the preschool and the primary school. Through interviews children are compelled to think and reflect, which in turn affects their learning and development.

### A trip into the children's world of thought

All teachers know that children's thoughts and concepts are different from those of adults, but the manner in which children's thinking has consequences for daily work is not so easy to determine. The fascination of the research community with the child's perspective of the world is not easy to translate into the daily practice of teachers.





Modern culture values abstract thinking and we begin to encourage children in this early on. Parents and the surroundings place great importance and promote children's participation in the symbolic world. And the teachers of young children as well as parents know the expectations stated in books and elsewhere - that children must succeed the first time they try an activity. The child's manner of thinking in the early years is concrete and far from the abstract ideal which western societies encourage. But children live in our culture and become socialized in connection with it. What the rewards and encouragements are in other societies are by no means obvious.

Historical studies of adult thinking show that sometimes the same manner of concrete thinking which children express every day was used by adults previously, and for many hundreds of years. This means that through the historical study of the development of thought, we can sometimes come to understand children's development.

Childhood is a cultural phenomena which has interested people in modern times only. Piaget was one of the first investigators to develop scientific knowledge of childhood. He undertook a systematic study of how the world looked from the perspective of children. To learn about the "children's world" is to learn to know wider society and at least a little part of the complex culture in which we live. Irrespective of didactic intentions, a direct application of the interview with children which we want to prescribe, is to learn first about the "children's world". This gives value to our working profession, as it can both help us to help children learn and to learn as teachers.

# Why Children's Interviews?

Verbal communication is the most common instructional method, thus, knowledge about this method should be collected and recorded. Every teacher has amusing examples of things that happen, or comments that children make, which in our eyes make the work seem entertaining. But children's comments are not things for amusing adults, for without them the adult could not know how children view their own world. It is what children say or the manner in which they express their thinking that reveals their comprehension of the world in which they live.

#### Perspective on learning

Pre-school and primary school work should fit children's development; this is one of the areas which we have illuminated in this book. Children learn and develop, but children also develop through what they learn. Learning and development are two parts of the same process which enables children to organize impressions from systematic learning in the form of representations and ideas. These concepts grow in the developmental process as expressions for an organized knowledge independent of the immediate perceptions of an event. Thus we should encourage learning which involves the solving of a problem together with the development of more overarching strategies for problem solving, as a way to develop concepts. This can result in children actively engaging in understanding what happens around them through the exploration and handling of objects in the world<sup>5</sup>.

Children learn through their own active involvement. Thus, children who stay in an environment in which there are no challenges to their thinking, risk coming to a standstill in their development. The teachers' task becomes the active organization and structuring of children's experiences in such a manner that children are compelled to think and draw their own conclusions, partly to find the level of a single child's expressions, and partly to help the child widen its thinking. We adults cannot tell children how



they should think, but we can give children concrete problems, where from earlier experience and knowledge they can deal with more advanced problems.

The interview is an instrument for stimulating the thinking ability and learning development of children. Through adults helping the children observe how to manage the consequences of their actions, the children begin to think about things which they had not reflected upon before. Donaldson<sup>6</sup> states that children who have often dealt with questions of the type which compel the child to describe or elucidate something, questions like: "What does this mean?", can see their own role in the communication situation.

Säljö<sup>7</sup>, referring to adults, and Francis<sup>8</sup>, referring to children, indicate that the significance of what is learnt is related to the personal challenge experienced. Francis described three different categories of children with respect to the relationship between how they understood the school situation and how they learned to read. One group quickly learned to read well. They already had ideas about how to read and write. Another group of children were categorized as slow in learning to read. These children were capable of reading and writing some things in school, but did not see the joy of reading and writing throughout their whole life. The third group of children were very slow in beginning to read. Many children in this group had an obvious problem even after three years in primary school. They could copy the writing in books, but they had no understanding of what they were reading or the meaning of their lives in school.

In Leimars<sup>9</sup> early reading program (<u>L</u>äsning på <u>T</u>alets <u>G</u>rund), a language experience approach, knowledge of the importance of children's understanding of what they are reading, is utilized. LTG builds on children understanding the need to understand the text in order to write it down.

We have reason to believe that the same applies to other learning situations, that is, that children's assumptions about what their whole world is about in relation to their learning is significant for their ability to learn. Many of the problems children face in the context of education are due to the fact that they have not



understood the value of learning in that context, or grasped the suggested task.

One assumption that we have about learning in the pre-school, leisure centre, and primary school, is that it ought to include provision for children's thinking around a central concept, principle, and idea of development, in order to better help children understand and manage the world in which they live. If we want to have children develop their thinking, if we have as a goal for the pre-school program more relevant and advanced or more functional comprehension, we must first know which representations children have as a basis for their thinking in order to help them broaden to their next "thinking level". Thus the central principles, concepts, or ideas which children are meant to learn, ought to form the central goals and guidelines for any education program in their early years.

We need now to give examples of what we mean by more relevant, more advanced or more functional concepts. It is not easy for a child to instantly develop comprehension, even though children believe that they can suddenly learn something new when they get older. One other idea we have about certain children is that they learn through experience. One part of what children understand is not derived through experience, but learning through their active engagement and performance has most significance for them. This leads to relevant comprehension which has elements of practice. It is the use of learning by children themselves that forms their standard before starting school.

Pramling<sup>10</sup> has described how children comprehend learning as either beginning to be able to *do* something, *know* something or *understand* something. The latter is attributed to be the more advanced comprehension which occurs when children have understood that they can not only learn to do things, but that they can also, through learning, gain knowledge about the world and really come to know things. This can be visible in how children solve mathematical problems in functional and less functional ways, even though children have more detailed and complicated ways of calculating than they can perhaps quickly demonstrate when they and the problems become a little more advanced.

The perspective we have constructed about children's learning characteristics in the pre-school, the leisure centre and the primary school demands that we change our ideas. Children think about or understand their world situation in qualitatively different ways. Accordingly, learning is about moving from one level of complete comprehension to another.

#### Children's comprehension of their surrounding world

A starting point for this book is that children should be able to understand and comprehend the educational situations they are put into, as this kind of experience is the basis upon which their symbolic thinking is developed. We see children's inner development from both a developmental psychological perspective and a pedagogical perspective. Children's presentations must be understood in order that one can come to understand their thinking and know how education influences them by contributing to the formation of their understanding.

In an interview study<sup>11</sup> conducted in Sweden and India, four-yearold children described what they learned in pre-school. Many Swedish children stated that they had not learned anything. In the interviews, where children revealed what they learned, they commonly gave examples from social behaviour i.e. not being noisy, not running inside the school building, sharing food fairly at meal-times etc. In contrast, when the Indian pre-school children were asked what they learned, they answered that they learned to read and write.

In Sweden we tend to believe that a child's reading and writing ability does not derive from the structured work of the teacher, but rather develops entirely and wholly from the children's initiative while playing. Swedish and Indian children gave different answers about their upbringing and what they experienced in pre-school. Through the different answers one can see what is important in two different cultures. In the pedagogical situation in India compared with Sweden, children have different experiences. These affect their ways of thinking. A further point we will make here is that different situations have different meanings for children at different developmental levels.



This is true for reading<sup>12</sup>, mathematics<sup>13</sup>, speaking<sup>14</sup> and working with various materials.<sup>15</sup> The list of examples could be longer, but the essential point is that, whatever the domain, the individuals in a children's group think differently about specific contents. To interview children and become aware of the variations in comprehension provides us with different ways of understanding children's thinking. A child's comprehension does not mirror a stable individual characteristic with a single way to think, but the ways an individual acts and thinks depends on specific situations. This means that the same child may have different levels of comprehension depending on the situation.

The following is an example from Pramling's<sup>10</sup> study where 300 children were asked: "Tell me something about what you have learned?". The children's answers could be classified into three different categories. These represented different ways children think about learning. The early grade children described their thinking in terms of what they had learned "to do"e.g. they said they had learned to ride their bikes, turn somersaults, wash their hands, etc. At another level, children described their learning by naming different bits of information or knowledge, e.g. that they knew that one should not move a dead bird because they might get germs. For these children, learning was represented as "knowing" something. The third level of description was where children described how they had suddenly understood something which they had not done previously, that is, they described an insight into something.

The above description of what children comprehend and say about their learning shows us the variation in children's levels of thinking. The variation can also be seen in a group of eight-year-old children, who had an opportunity to describe what they had learned. The variation in their levels of thinking was similar to that found among the 300 children referred to above. Teachers must be aware that even within a specific age-group, there can be great variations in ways of thinking.

One other example of how children can interpret the same situation in different ways was seen when children in a pre-school worked with the theme "Colour". One day when playing the game,



"A Ship Comes Loaded with Cargo," the children were asked to name the different colours of the cargo. When the children were interviewed about this game, some of them said they played in order to learn the different colours, whilst other children gave another reason i.e. that the teacher had suggested it. Thus you can see a further example of how children think in a specific situation. Certain children understand something beyond the situation, i. e. that they play to learn colours whereas other children comprehend only the situation itself, that is, to play as the teacher directed.

In the same way that there are levels of motor development, there are levels in the development of children's thinking. Motor development is often viewed as being dependent on maturation, but the development of thought patterns is part of the the wider extension of experience. The experiences a child has had or opportunities which have been made available have meaning for how he or she thinks. This means that one reason children have different progressions in their thought patterns is they have had different experiences in the real world of the community<sup>16</sup>.

The significance of the adults' comprehension of the children's world of thought

When teachers transmit knowledge to children, little is often retained in the children's consciousness, largely because of how the teachers structure their instruction i.e. if it is from the point of view of the adult<sup>17</sup> or not from the child's perspective. In the pre-school, some of the intentions of the early childhood programs<sup>18</sup> have been successful, i.e. that children are sociable and should learn to relate to each other. Because of this, early childhood teachers perform differently than the traditional knowledge mediators in the formal school. They proceed from the children's behaviour and act in concrete situations which arise, playing together with children from within the children's own experiences.

In order to develop a method for learning how and what children think, one must place them in situations where they need to think. Children as well as adults take a lot for granted in their everyday lives. To be able to induce knowledge one must first create order from the full range of impressions obtained by a child. But what is



interesting in connection with instruction is that when the teacher and child arrive at different meanings for things, then communication cannot arise. For if communication between two partners is to function, things must have the same meaning. When adults represent the world only for themselves, without reflection, their representation becomes incomprehensible for children, like when the teacher creates rules and so forth only from her own experiences.

Several examples can illustrate what we mean. A child had fallen in the playground at the child-care centre and hit her mouth making her gums bleed. There were no teachers nearby as they were inside. When the child's mother came, she asked her child why she had not gone in to the teacher. The child answered, "We are not supposed to run into the building when we are playing outside." The teacher was able to separate circumstances and to know that the rules do not apply in all situations, but the child had taken her rules literally and applied them to absolutely every single situation.

A further example can be taken from how the theme of shape is introduced in pre-school through a presentation of the four basic forms, the circle, triangle, square, and rectangle. When children are interviewed after the theme's introduction, and are given an egg or a banana for instance, or any other shape than the four mentioned, they will often believe that these things have no shape. Shapes were only those things that the teacher presented and nothing else. For the teacher, it was evident that the forms she presented were only *examples* of shapes, but many children did not understand this, as the teacher did not make her own understanding clear to the children.

Similar examples can be taken from the primary school. For instance, at the end of the first school year, a group of children were asked the question: "What is the difference between a school reading book and a local history book?" The children identified three aspects. Certain children thought that the books had different appearances i.e. that some books were thick and some were thin, some books were large and some were small, and some books contained figures but others had pictures, etc. Other children said that the contents of the books differed i.e. that the reading books say things abstractly but that the local history books deal with



reality. Yet another aspect which other children identified was the *function* of the books i.e. that the reading book taught people to read, but the local history book gave facts<sup>19</sup>. When one interviews school children it often happens that they believe that books are there so that one can learn to read, but that the contents are there so that one should learn something that is not so evident.

In the pre-school as well as the primary school children acquire certain knowledge and are prepared for certain experiences. But the power to acquire what are termed the basic school skills builds for the most part on that which comes from within. It is from within that children either get hold of things or arrive at other meanings. These other meanings arise naturally from activities but are something other than what the teacher intended, in which case the teacher must change her original goals. We can illustrate this by looking at how children arrive at conceptions of time.

In the pre-school and the leisure centre as well as the primary school, children learn about time. The teacher's goal is to have the children learn to tell the time in different ways. As a way to do this they use concrete material through which children are involved in working with clocks. When asked what they learn, children often answer: "To work the clock." For these children the inner meaning of what they learned was to do something. The goal was that they should learn to know something at a more advanced level of comprehension. But many children are not old enough to do this. They are not able to meet the teacher's intention of comprehending something about time, in as much as the basics that they embrace are not adequate at that level. The teacher's intention, that children should work with clocks in order to learn about time, was understood by the children only in terms of what they were working concretely at i.e. making clocks go round. The teacher and the children have different assumptions about what the activities are for. When this kind of thing happens children often fail to grasp the knowledge presented in school.

All instruction rests on certain assumptions, whereas basics are often taken for granted. The more elementary the basics are, the greater the risk that they are not be considered objects for teaching or reflection by children, and this can lead to severe long-term consequences. Teachers must develop the skills to mediate between



child and adult comprehension and know what they really do and why they do it. Working with activities in the appropriate form for school preparation cannot be ignored in the pre-school, and one must naturally follow it up in school.

The effects of understanding the basic process of learning and its purpose can be shown by returning to a study by Pramling<sup>20</sup>. A number of children were asked how they would go about learning the telephone number of a new friend in the pre-school. Many children believed that they could not learn the telephone number by heart and suggested that they should write it down on a scrap of paper. Other children thought that they could memorize the number. They had realized that the basic idea was to learn a telephone number by mentally repeating it until they remembered it. By knowing what was involved in the task and how this related to its purpose, these children were able to resolve the problem.

In the beginning of our interview study, we were often amazed how children had comprehended certain things. We were teachers ourselves, who had always previously taken children's thinking for granted. We had believed that the longer we worked, the clearer the children's answers would be, but they did not seem to answer the questions in the way we thought they would. Unenge<sup>21</sup> says that he reacted the same way when he began to interview children about mathematics. "Can it really be so. Is this in fact the reality of our pupils?" he thought. Many teachers react similarly regarding children's understanding and thinking.

Children quickly see through the expectations teachers have and the answers which satisfy them<sup>22</sup>. One example can be taken from daily life in pre-school. Many pre-schools have a recurring procedure with the calendar every day. Children turn the pages of the calendar and the teacher talks about which month and which day of the week it is, and whose "name-day" it is. Children answer by naming a day that is satisfying to the teacher, but they often have no understanding of what the whole thing is about. The central thing for the children is to turn the pages.

Access to the children's world of experience for the teacher gives a new insight about children and about what to do to help their development and learning. The teacher's most important goal is to



acquire an understanding of the child's perspective in order to be able to adapt instructions to the child's experience. And how does one get this knowledge?

Children's thinking as a point of departure for pre-school work

The main reason why we have interviewed children and analyzed what they have said is to give teachers a basis for their work. The overriding goal is to enable them to be flexible and willing to meet each individual child at his/her level. The teachers must always be willing to improve their teaching. They cannot plan on a once and for all basis and follow that plan year after year, as children's situations in the world vary. This variation has its basis in the children's lives in different environments for different periods of time, where they have different experiences in families, with friends, in the pre-school, in the leisure centre, and in school.

There is valid co-operation between both pre- and formal schooling. This is evident when the outcome of all levels of education becomes a continuity in handling the central forms of children's learning. Children must return to the contents of the basic concepts from the pre-school in the primary school.

The key idea which both pre- and formal schools have is the centrality of children's learning in daily activities. In both settings the aim is that children will understand by becoming actively involved in shaping what they learn. One proven way to do this is to let children plan, carry out and evaluate some activity every day<sup>23</sup>. The teacher's role is to ask appropriate questions and help the children develop their own agenda. In this regard they only restrain children in order to make them more conscious of their role in the learning situation.

Another central concern is how children learn to read, since they are so heterogeneous in their demonstrations of this capability. Great heterogeneity can be dealt with through a philosophy of individual learning now found in the pre-school. Through cooperation between teachers, ways of working can be arrived at so that children can come to understand that they can work with the same things at different levels and need not always work with



different things to attain different skills and competences. With specific regard to reading skills, children need first to gain an idea about what it means to learn to read.

We have given an example earlier in the chapter about how different children comprehend and think differently in education settings. Children's thinking reveals what children must receive support and help from the teacher to realize their own development. The primary school must proceed where the preschool leaves off for every single child, in order that the complete meaning of a situation is made clear to the child, and that nothing is done for which they have not a comprehensible grounding for developing their understanding further. The children's work in the pre-school, the leisure centre, or the primary school must be meaningful to them. Motivation is a vital factor in all learning, and it is hard to visualize a situation in which a child has great motivation to do something which the adult said he should do, if the child sees no meaning in it.

Interviews with children in the pre-school reveal that children believe that they have to be able to read before starting school. Indeed one can often sense the alarm some children feel when they know that in only a few months school will start, and they do not yet know how to read. Interviews with children in the primary school or the leisure centre show other things of importance. Children may not have learned to read, but will have come to know that in school they should sit still for instance. They have learned in other words that they have to follow this and other rules. Teachers know this but perhaps don't know how such representations arose and what earlier experiences children have had. Co-operation could help them to help children to other experiences which might influence their thinking in a more positive direction. We have to interpret what leads children to react to certain conditions in certain ways, in order to positively develop the experiences they get from what we try to give them.



### How to Interview Children

In an interview situation it is not only the questions and their phrasing which influence what can be obtained. Just as important is the contact created with the child, for without the child's willingness to work together with us we cannot learn anything from him/her. We shall point out certain external circumstances which affect the interview situation, irrespective of whether it involves an interview with a single child or with a group.

#### Practical arrangements

The first practical step in the arrangement of an interview is to secure a *quiet setting* so that the child will be able to concentrate and not lose interest. It is unsuitable to use a school staffroom or an entrance hall etc., where adults come and go continually. We have found it hard to interview in such places. They often cause both children and adults to either clam up or loose concentration when interrupted by a third person's presence. Another area which can greatly interrupt children's concentration is near the playground where they can see their friends at play.

What is necessary as far as the practical arrangements are concerned is to have a tape recorder, and all the materials you will use in place. The interviewers themselves must be familiar with the tape recorder as well as the materials which they need for the interview. There are many possibilities to shape and to keep up the contact which the interviewer and child must have with each other. In order to maintain the child's interest, eye contact should be made throughout the whole interview. Interviewers should know the questions they will ask ahead of time so that they will not have to shuffle through their papers. Staring at the child is also not recommended.

We have found that we always need to use a tape recorder because it is difficult to take good notes at the same time as the interview is in progress. For analysis, it is necessary to record the whole



interview. When one does not use a tape recorder but tries to take notes about what the children say, they talk so quickly that only a part of what they say is written down. Consequently, important information may be missing when one begins the analysis.

During the interview the child also reveals important things through gestures, mimicking, or pitch of voice. Observations of body language and behaviour should be noted down immediately after the interview is finished. This helps the interviewer to understand better what the children were saying in the interview, when the material is interpreted at a later time.

The time of day for the interview is also important as certain times of the day are better than others. A child who is bored, hungry, waiting to go to or interrupted in play is always more difficult to motivate than a child who is not tired or not involved in play, etc. It is also important to have allowed *sufficient time* for the interview so that one does not hurry the children or make them feel stressed. Children should be collected for the interview rather than sent for.

The best length of an interview depends on several factors: the age of the child, the interest of the child and the level of participation of the child in the interview situation. The interviews we have conducted with children between three and eight years of age have ranged from five to thirty-five minutes in length. The time difference depends naturally on how young the child is, since young children do not have the experience and language capacity of the older children. Likewise, younger children tire more quickly than the older children so the interview cannot go on as long.

#### Social contract

Even if one has taken into consideration the things that make good practical arrangements, the interview will not be good unless a relationship is developed which builds the children's confidence. Teachers who interview children from their own classes have a clear advantage, for they have already established positive relationships. However, when interviewing a group of children it is important to know the children's environment, as well as the



children themselves. Contact with the children can be helped by the teacher giving information to the children before the first visit.

The information collected from children will depend on the social contract established. Good contact with the children can be secured if one can anticipate what they will talk about and about which things they will share their thoughts. But they must feel secure enough to do this. If the children do not have confidence at the interview, they are likely to be more reserved in their statements. To shape and establish a social contract, which builds on reciprocity in the relationship, presupposes that the interviewer concentrates on what the child has to say.

It is hard to plan how many interviews to conduct in a day. It depends partly on the nature of the interviews, which we will come back to later, and partly on the time one must spend when one arrives to get an overview of the situation. In the contacts with individual children, it makes it easier if one has an idea about what one can converse about. The children's engagement in the day's activities also affects how many interviews can be done. With interviews, one must therefore respect that Lisa must finish putting together her puzzle or that Todd will miss his maths assignment if he is in the interview. It also follows that the children will concentrate better if the interviewer has respect for their normal activities.

Children will not always answer certain questions. This we must respect. Maybe the child is emotionally deeply affected by the question and will not answer it. As an example, on one occasion a child answered a question as follows: "Tell me something that you know". "No, Mummy told me not to." While it is important to follow-up questions, we must be sympathetic and not press the child. In this case it is likely that there was something which the child's mother had said he should not mention. One must be conscious of how the contents of the interview can be positive or negative to the child. This influences the contact and conditions surrounding the conversation. Here one would be sensitive to a situation in which there is a degree of conflict and not talk about it. Children may reveal defence mechanisms which results in them not being clear about the answer, for they may suppress what is disagreeable.

To respect the child and the child's feelings is of primary importance for building up a positive relationship between the interviewer and the children. This relationship is based on how one handles the first contact with the child. And therefore it is important to let the children know how important they are early in the first meeting with them, i. e. that one has selected them specifically and that one will talk with each one of them. In order to emphasize the importance of what the child says, we tell the children that their conversation will be recorded.

In order to build a good conversational situation, one must also tell the children what the conversation will be about and why it is taking place in a special room. If the mutuality of the conversation is to be preserved, the interviewer must listen intensely to what the child has to say. Nodding in approval, smiling and humming etc. gives the impression that one is really interested in the child. The aim is to be sensitive to what is suitable and to stop questions when the children cannot answer or have not thought about a particular topic. It is necessary to be aware that sometimes the children cannot give answers to the questions prepared or they can suddenly become exhausted. One must respect that the child is exhausted at that moment, but that she probably will be able to continue the next day.

A sensitivity for how long the children have the strength to work together is of great importance. Maybe the following interview situation can form an example showing the lack of that sensitivity in our interviewer. At the end of interview situation a child answered the question:

Teacher: Can you tell me something more about what

you want to know?

Karl: Yes, when can I leave here?

(In all quotations, the term teacher is used. The children's names are fictional.)

When the interview is completed it is important that the child shall be given time to listen to the recorded conversation. This is something that the children appreciate very much.

We believe that the interviewer develops a sensitivity for the children and uses empathy in order to motivate, to respect, to



listen, and to know when they should go on to a new question or even end the interview. One can't get away from the fact that the interviewer has an advantage over the child. On the contrary, the interviewer surrenders to the children's will to share their own thoughts.

#### Individual or group interviews?

The decision whether to conduct an interview with a child alone or in a group must be based upon what one wants to get out of the interview. If one wants to know about how a single child thinks about or understands a certain phenomenon, then a one to one interview is appropriate. If one is interested in how a group of children think about and understand a particular phenomenon, then a group interview is preferable.

In a group interview, children's answers can give sources for new questions and thoughts about each others ideas.

When we interview children, we must be conscious of group mechanisms. Are quiet children able to participate in the conversation? How much should the talkative child talk? Children are also often contrite to place visiting adults into a typical teacher role and one must be aware of what that can mean.

The advantage of the group interview is that children can become conscious of different thoughts and understandings and that they come to understand new things through hearing their friend's descriptions. This can lead to children coming to understand one thing or another that they had not understood earlier.

Unenge<sup>21</sup> gives an example from a group interview in a maths class. The children's assignment is to calculate the cost of four kilos of potatoes when six kilos cost nine crowns. The conversation develops as follows:

Teacher: Anna, what do you say?

Anna: Six crowns.

Teacher: And how do you know that?

Anna: Yes, six kilos cost nine crowns and if I divide six by nine, what did I say, nine by six, and



that becomes one and one half, or one and

fifty.

Brita: What?

Anna: Yeah, six into nine goes once and there are

three left over and three is half of six and..

Brita: Oh yeah, I understand...

We see here how Brita understood a calculation assignment through her friend talking about how she thought out her answer. This is an example of how a group interview can serve as a model in teaching the development of children's thinking. But the children's development of calculating skills does not come merely through listening to each other. It also demands an active engagement from the teacher (and active use of manipulative materials). Teachers must develop and follow-up questions which make it possible for the children to reflect over their own answers and determine the similarity of these answers to those of their friends.

From the beginning we conducted interviews both with individual children and with groups of children within a classroom or at the day-care centre. This can be done naturally, but one becomes conscious that there are many events which surround the children and the interviewer which influence the children's capacity to concentrate. Whether an interview can be conducted within the children's group or in an adjacent room depends on what we want to know about the children.

Sometimes we have met teachers who thought that it was a mistake to take the child alone into an adjacent room and interview him there. Certain teachers are sceptical about allowing a child to be the subject of a one to one interview and not together with other friends. The teachers' scepticism probably arises from the debate about not seeking out and judging individual children. The teacher has experience of the test situation which she translates into the interview situation. Our experience is that children think that it is fun and exciting to go out and be interviewed. We believe that a large part of what the teacher does with so little time and so many children does not allow her to devote much time to the individual

child. Children are usually in competition with many friends for the teacher's attention. Thus, the child gets interested when an adult devotes her total attention.

The following episode illustrates how children view being interviewed alone. It is free activity time at the leisure centre and one child goes to the adjacent room to be interviewed. When he returns to the group, 18 children stand up wanting to be interviewed also. They yell, "I want, I want." This reaction is more the rule than the exception.



# Posing Questions

We had worked with children for many years before we began to conduct interviews. We believed therefore that it would not present a great problem. We soon observed that it was not as easy as we believed to go through an interview in dialogue form. We discovered the following. First, one must go through many interviews to develop competence. By conducting and creating interviews, one also learns how to develop and follow-up answers. What questions can be understood by children? How could a question be posed in an another way at another point in the interview? We also learned to give the children the time they need to answer and to avoid, particularly in the group interview, answering in the children's place. This is otherwise a mistake interviewers often make in the beginning.

#### Give the child time

Children always have something to say, but we must give them time to think. Not letting the children complete their thinking is an easy mistake to make. But if we want to know what children think we must give them a chance to do this. A teacher told us about how she once give a quiet child an exceptionally long time to think. She was amazed at what happened. After a long pause, the girl began to talk and had a great deal to say.

#### Questioning techniques

Here we will give examples of different types of questions and point out that the form of the question is dependent on the purpose of the interview. How and what one should ask must always be related to the purpose of asking. When seeking understanding about how children comprehend questions of a more general nature, such as learning, mathematics, rules or reading, one must develop many questions of varying character and contents. If on the other hand one wants to know what children comprehend about general subjects, or how they understand break-time, one would develop fewer and more precise questions.



The character of the questioning technique suggests that we begin with the wide and overarching questions; i.e. with a broad approach which gives a context for more specific questions. This does not mean that one cannot begin with concrete situations. Let us say that we want to know if children in a certain group have initiated their own learning.

-We would begin by asking the child to tell us something about what she has learned. Here the child has many possibilities and is wholly free to suggest what she wants. If she is not spontaneous and says that she has not learned anything, we question more specifically and narrow down the questions. If the child's suggestions do not relate to knowledge in the wider world, we narrow the questions further.

-This can imply that we question: "If you want to know where an elephant lives, what would you do?". "Are there many ways that you could find out?" etc. Many examples of other specific questions are offered later in the chapter.

- The wider questions, those with many possibilities, are for the child who chooses to adjust and give many opposing ideas, while the narrower, more precise questions are selected and adjusted to the child. This is done to make it easier for the child to understand what information the interviewer wants.

## Different Types of Questions

The starting point of the interview should be a situation or experience which the child is familiar with. It is always easier for the child to reflect upon concrete situations, experiences, etc. than to reflect upon theoretical principles. The closer one comes to the child's environment in the interview situation, the easier it is to arrive at a suitable starting point for the interview. To begin an interview with a conversation concerning something that one has experienced or something that one knows that the child has experienced in the classroom or day-care centre, creates trust between the interviewer and the child. If one has a conversation about the contents of a book, it is easier for the child to talk about the book if he has it with him in the interview. When talking about



colours and shapes etc., suitable articles should be available at the interview.

The younger the child is, the more important it is that the conversation includes reference to concrete material at hand. Paper and pencil is also useful, so that the child can draw and talk. Dolls, toy animals or puppets could also help the younger children to act out the conversation.

There are many different ways to ask questions so as to bring out the child's understanding and thoughts about specific contents. We will also influence the follow-up questions to the child's answers with questions which have the greatest meaning for an in-depth interview, which we will come back to.

Questions to which the child can answer either "yes" or "no" are not advisable. They do not give information about how the child thinks about the interview "object."

#### Tell me!

One type of question which children often comprehend easily is where one asks them to tell about something for example, "Tell me about something you have learned.," or "Tell me about when you began to count." This technique does not mean that the questions allow the children to talk in very general terms. The interviewer narrows the questions in order to discover what the children know.

It is better to give a clear direction e.g. "Tell me..." than to use "Can or will you tell me...", where the child can often say "no".

Teacher: Can you let me hear you count?

Camilla: No.

Teacher: How far can you count up to usually?

Camilla: Not up to 100 usually... 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, (etc. to

29). I can count to 29:

#### Describe how!

The interview must have the character of a conversation and not be an interrogation. The more interrogative the interview, the more unwilling the children become to reveal their thoughts. When we ask the child to describe something special that he/she has learned,



then we must accept what the child describes. This implies that if the child responds to an early question and says that he/she learned to ride a bike, then we must expand on that question i.e. "What did you do when you learned to ride a bike?" The child gains the capacity to describe how they comprehend what they have learned.

One can also let the child choose and describe *critical situations*. One asks the child to describe a situation which is connected to the problem one wants to illustrate in the interview. For example, if one wants to know how the child views fear, one could ask: "Describe an occasion when you were really afraid." If one wants to know how children view the school situation, one could ask: "Describe something that happened which was really happy (dull, tedious) in school." If one wants to gain insight into children's moral development one could say, "Tell me about a time when you did something really foolish." etc.

## General and specific questions

In an interview one ought to use a combination of general and specific questions. By general questions we mean questions such as: "Tell me what it's like to be in the child care centre? Tell me what it's like going to school?" Through development of these overarching questions, the children have the possibility to direct and adjust the conversation. The child says things as they come into his/her head. A specific question which one could ask if one wanted to know something special about the child care centre or the school is: "What do you do when the teacher says that there are too many in the woodwork room and you really want to be there? What do you do in the school if the teacher presents a new maths problem and you do not understand it?" The younger the child, the more difficult it is to have an open-ended question, and only ask them to describe something, because they often need more specific questions in order to be able to answer.

## Direct and indirect questions

Direct or indirect questions are another aspect to consider. We will use an example here. Take a situation in which children will not play together. As a teacher, one might then want to know how the children understand this situation of opposition. A direct question



3:

could be: "Why do you never play with Thomas?" An indirect question in this context could be: "Why do you think that certain children do not play with other children?". Both types of questions can be used to get to the same type of answer, but one should be clear about whether the question is within the capacity of the child to explain. Questions requiring the child to explain something are more difficult than questions of a narrative or descriptive nature.

### Use pictures to help

Using pictures at the start of an interview provides a further way to help the children reveal their comprehension or thoughts about something. The child can describe what is shown in the pictures. A development from this is that after the child has spoken about something, other questions can be formulated i.e. "What do you think happened then?". In a similar way, the interviewer can then ask about this situation or a situation which the child then can continue to develop.

#### Statements

Questions related to conduct have to be used with great sensitivity. Although sometimes it may be legitimate to use statements which begin with: "You like to... It is good to... Children should not... Parents should not... You are very happy when..." etc., these should be used sparingly and at the end of the interview, when this type of question is least likely to disturb the security of the child. This can contribute towards breaking the social contract. However, these questions can be useful, particularly to probe what the child had said earlier and make contrasts. For instance, if we want to know about the child's understanding of teacher authority and in the interview we come to know that the child thinks that the children should determine the rules, and not the teacher, then we can say the following: "You think it is right that the teacher tells you what to do." The child's answer will give us insight into how much the child holds fast to what was said earlier.

Using this type of question format demands that the interviewer is sensitive to the child's reaction. Should the child become unhappy and uncertain about his/her previous answer, the interviewer must help the child examine this. If the child, on the other hand, does not



change his/her statement, throughout the interview one must develop further follow-up questions to become clear about which understanding is the child's own.

### The same questions - different contexts or different contents

A question posed in one context around one specific content area may be incomprehensible to a child, but, in other circumstances, or with another context, it may be easy to understand. By asking children the same questions, only posed differently, more modulated pictures of the children's representations can be obtained, as the child is given several chances to answer. The children's experiences to a large extent direct their thinking about the essential contents of the question. By extending their opportunities to answer the questions, we greatly enhance their possibility of informing us on the issues we are contrite to know about.

To illustrate, the problem of calculating of "10 minus 6" is one which many children of pre-school age cannot directly solve. On the other hand, if the same children are given the question: "You have 10 crowns and want to buy an ice-cream which costs 6 crowns, how many crowns would you have left?" it is clear that many of them could complete the task. This also shows that when a question is developed which relates to the child's life experiences, the possibilities they have for solving it are increased. Another way to provide a sensitive description of the child's understanding is to ask a question with a different content.

One example of this is when the teacher wants to know if children can comprehend certain changes in their own thinking. Questions can be developed in two different ways with different contents: "Do you believe that you think in another way now than you did when you were little? Can you give me an example?". Another way would be to ask a child if they could remember what they thought when they learned to ride a bike and how that is different from what they think about riding a bike now. Many children can skilfully tell their own thoughts when the question is tied to their own experience 10.



## Mixing difficult and easy questions

In an interview one should also think of questions of varying levels of difficulty so that easy and difficult questions are intermingled. This is important, partly so that the person interviewing can develop an understanding about which questions have some meaning when asked, and partly so that the child shall not be asked difficult questions at the end and not feel a failure.

### Questions develop through experience

Sometimes is it hard to determine how children comprehend or why one should test questions with one or more children as one begins the real interview situation. This implies that one might find it difficult to formulate questions when one has to do many interviews. This is a way of behaviour which one might have to repeat several times before one feels that one has reached the child and captured the child's world of thought. The development of questions enables teachers to become widely competent in giving children a chance to reveal their thoughts.

## Following up a question

Irrespective of which questions we choose to ask, we must follow them up using the child's answer as the starting point. This involves a difficult balance between letting the children talk freely and using more controlled questions in the interview. Without control there is a risk of not getting the information one wants to know, not knowing what to do after the interview, and or simply not learning anything.

Previously, "the best" interviews were considered to be those where various questions (and possibly follow-up questions) were prepared in the exact same way for every child. This implies that all of the children are treated in exactly the same way. But the type of interview we encourage builds up on the fact that every child is handled as an unique individual. This implies that one can ask a question in different ways, but above all, it implies that one always follows up the children's answers in various ways.



Following up answers in an interview so that the child can reveal his/her thoughts is what we earlier called deep (intensive) interviewing. This requires that interviewers are sensitive to the children's answers and formulate follow-up questions from what the child says. Thus, each interview has, in some way, to be a unique event.

To illustrate: Johan comes with a piece of wood which has a number three written on it. He states that he has written it himself and takes the teacher by the hand to follow him to the woodwork room. He wants her to write a number three on another piece of wood. The teacher has long since determined that Johan could not have written the number himself and becomes interested to know what he sees its function to be. She decides to proceed as follows:

Teacher: What are you making?

Johan: You can see.

Teacher: No, not exactly. . .tell me.

Johan: Its a racing car of course.

Teacher: Oh. . . . I see

Johan: So there needs to be a number at the front

and back for it to be a racing car.

Teacher: Why does a racing car need a number?

Johan: You know why.

Teacher: No, I don't know. Why are there numbers?

Johan: I can't say.

(The teacher thinks how she can continue the conversation and help Johan to talk about what he sees the functions of the numbers to be. She pauses for a moment and then says. . .)

Teacher: Tell me how you will make the racing car?

Which piece of wood will you use?

Johan: First the length, then the width, and there

must be wheels.

Teacher: Will you paint it?

Johan: Yes, it will be red.

Teacher: Where will you put the pieces of wood with

the numbers on?



Johan: One there (front) and one there (back)

Teacher: But why, really, does a racing car have

numbers?

Johan: You know why . .

Teacher: No, I don't usually go to car races.

Johan: But you know. . .

Teacher: Should they come in the order they have

numbers... or what do the numbers mean?

Johan: They tell you who goes the fastest of course.

Teacher: Oh. . I didn't know that.

Here we can begin to see how Johan saw the number's function which was so important for him to write on a wooden block which he would use for the racing car. The interviewer knows what she wants to know the entire time. Johan's answer in the beginning shows evidently that he thinks the teacher is joking when she says she wants to know why the numbers are there. Naturally it could also be that Johan had never previously wondered why racing cars have numbers and therefore could not answer. When he had time to think, he could tell her which function he believed the numbers had. We see also that when Johan expressed that he did not want to say how they happened to go together, the interviewer changed the approach and began to talk about things which must be done to make the racing car, in order to re-establish the original questions of the interview. The possibility also exists that Johan answered the teacher's last question without really listening to what was meant by it.

This situation was enacted in a child care centre. Another teacher felt uncomfortable when she heard the conversation. Afterwards she said, "Oh, how stubborn you were with Johan. I would have stopped much earlier." Stubbornness in this case resulted in the child revealing his thoughts, but the interviewer must maintain a balance between being "stubborn" and having a sensitivity for when it is not suitable to go on to wider questions.

## Clear purpose combined with flexibility

When doing this type of interview one cannot have a detailed plan of all the questions, but it is important for the interviewer to be clear about the type of information sought and the territory which one wants to know something about. Fewer questions can be formulated in advance, more force is used when following up what the children say.

Through the process of leaving it up to the children to choose the direction of the interview, it sometimes happens that the children talk about things that do not have direct relevance to the interview. The children may want to sing a song, which one should let them do. For in interviews it is easier to bring the child's thinking back to the interview situation, if one also listens to the children for a short time before continuing the interview once more. Furthermore, although from the interviewers point of view what occurs with the children may seem to be difficult and not concerned with the topic, they can later see that it has meaning in order to help understand the child better, even though one has to be clear about the amount of information which cannot be used in the analysis.

## Give the children a chance to develop their thinking

We have earlier stated that it is important to follow-up and give the children an opportunity to develop their thinking. Possibilities to do this partly come from the children's answers. Let us look at two children who are asked: "Do you know what a rule is?"

Britta: Yes, we must wash our hands before we eat.

Teacher: Why should we do this?

Britta: The teacher says that we should.

Niklas: Yes, for example, one should not lie.

Teacher: Why is that?

Niklas: Imagine if Mum said that she was going to

the shop but she went on a trip instead.

Teacher: Did she do that?

Niklas: No, Mum doesn't lie.

Teacher: Do you know anyone that lies?



Niklas: My friend Peter, he said we were going

swimming but he didn't come.

In Britta's answer, "The teacher says that we should", we do not get many possibilities to expand the follow-up. In contrast, the development of the follow-up with Niklas consists of a long discussion.

Sometimes one is not satisfied with the follow-up of the questions. Whether the question itself was a mistake, or whether one believes that the children have told all that they know, the result is that one does not follow-up with more probing questions. This often happens when the interviewer has not listened carefully to the earlier comments of children. For an inexperienced interviewer, it is easy to be satisfied with the first answer the child gives, for it is hard to know how far to press the child.

The next example is of two children to whom we ask the same initial question, but the follow-up answer leads to different results.

Teacher: Why do you think it is good to be able to

count?

Ola: It is good to be able to count money.

Teacher: Can you see what we have written here on

the blackboard?

Ola: Nine.

Teacher: Why do you think it is good to be able to

count?

Lisa: It is good to be able to count money.

Teacher: What do you mean?

Lisa: I count my pocket money.

Teacher: Why do you do that?

Lisa: Well, I am saving five crowns every week to

buy a doll for Christmas.

Through Ola's answer we do not know what he really means by counting money. We must keep asking questions until we are sure that the child has no more to say.

## Changing direction

Just as important as following up questions is that the child understands that we can transfer the contents of discussions to another part of the interview. In one situation where the children were not attentive we repeated a question as follows:

The children solve a task in which they are to receive five raisins. The next question is: "If you have two and get two more, how many would you have?". "Five" answer the children after some difficulty due to the image left behind of the five raisins from the previous problem. Later in the interview the children are asked the same questions and answer, "Four." We interpret this as being to difficult for the children as the first situation referred back to the situation with raisins. We would have done the children an injustice if we had not changed the order and asked the question again in a new problem.

### Be an active conversation partner

How can we help the children to develop and express their thoughts? It is necessary to show interest and encourage the child as we indicated earlier, but we must not dominate them. As an interviewer one must be active in the conversation and ask questions which encourage the children to understand and develop their comprehension about something. The type of questions we think of here include: "What do you mean? Tell me more. I don't understand. Tell me again. How do you know that? How can that happen? Why? How? When? Where?" etc. Sometimes it helps to repeat what the child just said:

Teacher: If you have three pearls and you get three

more, how many do you have?

Bodil: Four

Teacher: Oh yeah, four.

Bodil: Yeah, if you have three and put them down

one, two, three, it becomes four.

Bodil continued her development when she went back to her answer, through the repetition of her answer by the interviewer.



It is very difficult to free oneself from the entrapments of a teacher's role which focuses a great deal on the correctness of the children's answers. But it is necessary. Our view of learning has brought us to see that the way the answer is given is more important than whether the answer is correct or not. The consequence is that our interview procedures have the character of a dialogue, which implies reciprocity and mutual turn taking in communicating, i. e. both the interviewer and the child become significantly involved in the development of the conversation in the interview.

#### In conclusion

Throughout the interview one must be sensitive to the *suggestibility* which easily develops in the interview situation. This develops naturally when the child talks with adults. Often the child strains to listen to what the adult has said. Children are used to accommodating their words to those of the adult. This demands great sensitivity when one interviews children.



# Interpreting Children's Interviews

If an interview is to lead to new knowledge so that teachers may come to understand children better, it is necessary to work thoroughly through the children's answers. How systematically one does this depends entirely on the purpose of the analysis. To get information from the interview, the interview situation itself and the data which comes from it must be viewed as one complete process. This must be done with sensitivity and skill, both with respect to the purpose of the ongoing dialogue and in interpreting the information which comes from it. It is important that we are aware of what we really want to get out of the interview. Becoming a skilled interviewer as well as making a qualitatively good analysis needs a lot of practice by the teacher. The analysis begins when we read (if the interview is transcribed) or listen to (if the interview is only recorded) the children's answers one-by-one. In the analysis we write down the different answers the children have given and create descriptive categories for them. These categories come from the children's expressions and are solely created from their answers.

## The different answers given by the children

We shall now illustrate the different facets of the analysis procedure. We have chosen to describe how children comprehend what they learn through watching television. The expressions quoted come from different "places" in the interview. Let us look at answers from ten children who were asked the question: "Tell me something that you have learned through watching T.V." The ten answers are taken from longer interviews. These answers are the most advanced which have come from any single interview and were facilitated by follow-up questions.

Stina: I have learned to turn the T.V. on and off.

Kalle: I have learned to tune in to the right channel

now.



Agnes: Once I learned to cut out different figures

through seeing them on T.V.

Patrik: I have learned to write the alphabet.

Eva: I usually read the text on the films, so I have

learned to read.

Magnus: I have learned a lot of rhymes and poems.

Gunilla: I have seen factories in South America which

release many dangerous chemicals so that children become sick and get rashes all over

their bodies.

Kerstin: I have learned that you can get allergies

from certain earrings.

Oscar: If you watch too much T.V .you can go

blind.t's really dangerous.

Siv: If you watch T.V. too late at night, you don't

have the strength to listen to the teacher in

school.

The children's answers are quite different. Some talk about the T.V., while others talk about something they learned through watching T.V. It is necessary to have access to the whole interview when making an analysis, because much of what we can use is related to an entirely different question. The children's answers can become easier to understand when seen in the context of the whole interview, and through the adjustments they make to their answers, one can see how children comprehend what they have learned. All children answer in such a way that it is possible to drive information that teachers can use when they analyze and interpret the children's understanding of certain contents, principles, ideas, or situations.

## Children's thinking patterns

From the multitude of answers received from an interview, one can find different forms of comprehension from which these answers come. In the different answers from the children above, we find

4

four different categories of answers based on different levels of thinking.

### Category 1: Concrete actions with the T.V.

The first two children (Stina and Kalle), answer the question by showing what they had learned to do with the T.V. rather than what they had learned from the T.V. In the interviews in general these two children showed they understood learning as concrete actions and therefore indicated their capacity to turn the T.V. on and off as the most important thing they learned. What took place on the screen was only picture and sound which the children did not think they learned anything from.

## Category 2: Education.

The two last answers (Oskar and Siv) are connected to the *effects* of watching T.V., which these children had heard of from their parents or teachers. From the children's answers one can imagine what the adults had told them when they wanted them to stop watching T.V. For these children, learning from the T.V. had become connected with what they had heard from adults.

The other six answers express that the children had learned something themselves when they had watched T.V. Two different categories are evident from their answers.

## Category 3: Concrete situations from the T.V.

The answers given by Agnes, Patrick and Eva are expressions deriving from the relation between observation and act. Through imitating what they saw on T.V., the children say they had learned to do something i.e. to cut out shapes, to write letters, or to read. The children express that learning to perform something concrete was the most significant aspect of their learning from the T.V.

## Category 4: Information from the T.V.

Finally we have Magnus, Gunilla and Kerstin who indicate that they have gained new knowledge through watching T.V. This means that they have learned to *know* something through watching T.V. The T.V. provides information, and the information



which they received led to their comprehension of having learned something.

#### Comments

These four levels or categories outline the children's comprehension about what they had learned through watching T.V. When teachers analyze the first two categories, many say, "But the children have misunderstood the question". We don't see it this way. It is not that certain children have understood and others have misunderstood. Every child understands, but from within their own development and in relation to their own experience. What is essential is to understand *what* they have comprehended.

When the last two categories are evaluated, we see a clear difference in the children's views about their world compared with the two earlier. Here children deal with the contents aspect of T.V. viewing. The content aspect takes on different forms of expression. What children in category 3 comprehend as significant is doing something concrete through watching T.V. In category 4 the children express what information they had comprehended, i.e. that knowledge creation is important.

After the differences have been identified in what children have comprehended or thought about a certain subject, and categories for describing these differences have been constructed, the next step is to place children's answers into the descriptive categories one has made, until all the answers are in a category. Through seeing what an individual child says in relation to all the interviews, the pieces of the puzzle fall into place little by little and thus a map is developed of the variations in thinking which one finds in a group of children. These findings can then be related to the contents of the work one does or in which one is interested. However, placing the representation of thinking in various categories is not an expression of the quality or capacity of the children, but an expression of how the children behave in a certain situation or with certain contents. Through the interviews and their analysis, one gains knowledge about the variation in thinking within the group, and how an individual child has comprehended or understood a certain content.



JU 46

The standards used in analysis work depend on the goal of the analysis. We believe of course that teachers must go through the interviews and the systematic analysis process to obtain an understanding of the child's world of thought. When teachers do this, they are forced to reflect on the children's expressions and try to understand how and what the children have comprehended about their own learning experience. They can then begin to learn to understand their own daily practice in relation to this.

### Reliability

Sometimes completing the interview process seems less interesting to the teacher than considering what an individual child has understood and what that shows about the child's world of thought. But what one is able to know depends largely on the quality and the quantity of the interviews. The following questions are important: Has one succeeded in following up on the children's answers? Has one succeeded in reaching behind the cliches of adults and reaching what Piaget has called the children's *genuine* answers; expressions of their situation and thoughts? This only happens if the children have been able to reflect on what one asks them and arrive at an answer after they have pondered over the question.

Let us look at an example of how two children have different understandings. Selma and Pelle have both been asked the question: "If you wanted to know how heavy an elephant is, how would you find out?"

Selma: You could go the Zoo and ask the keeper to

put the elephant on a scale.

Pelle: I would ask my mum, and if she didn't know,

I would go to the library and get a book.

Later on in the interview further questions were asked which sought to find out how children comprehend knowledge. These questions ran as follows: "If you did not know how far it was from here to the moon, how would you find out?"



Selma: I would travel into outer space and ask an

astronaut.

Pelle: I would ask my dad and see if he knew.

Teacher: And if he didn't know?

Pelle: I would look it up in our reference book.

What do these children's answers reveal about how children think? How do the children's representations prepare for understanding something? For Selma, the existence of knowledge is not something free-standing but is tied to the personal situation, i. e. she must act and go there in person and find the answer to the question. On the other hand, Pelle's conception of knowledge is no longer personal or tied to somebody participating in an activity. Knowledge exists in itself he implies when saying one can find the answer from someone or from reading a book. The comprehension of the children in the first situation is corroborated in the second situation. This can partly be seen as proof of the reliability of the children's answers, the part that mirrors the child's genuine answer.

To receive genuine answers, one need not always ask several similar questions but one can develop follow-up questions instead. In the following example a teacher was determined to find out how Petra understood break-time at the child care centre.

Teacher: Petra, why do we always have break-time

after eating here in the centre?

Petra: So the teachers can have a break.

Teacher: Oh yeah, can you think of another reason?

Petra: No.

Teacher: Don't you think it is good for the children?

Petra: No, not for children, its so that the teachers

can have a rest and eat.

Petra's answer seems genuine as she did not change her opinion that break-time is for the teachers.

To arrive at the children's genuine answers, one must learn to sort out other types of answers which one can receive in an interview. At times, children are bored and want to finish the interview. *They* 



can then give an answer which is affected by the atmosphere and which does not reflect their comprehension. For example, if a child is asked: "What food do you like best?" and the child says: "Fish cakes", it could be because he/she has just eaten them and said the first thing that came to mind. This type of answer is often easy to recognize through body language which shows that they are uninterested or tired. Sometimes they have a gleam in their eyes when they answer haphazardly.

Another type of answer which one must sort out is the children's fabrications, i. e. when they fantasize and simply say anything.

Teacher: Peder, do you have animals at home?

Peder: Yes, I have an elephant which lives in a hut

in the garden. We have planted three palm

trees around the hut...

Finally, interviewers can sometimes pose questions which guide the child and *suggest answers to the child*. The child answers wholly for the interviewers satisfaction and does not reveal it's own thoughts:

(In the middle of the interview)

Teacher: What we like about Sweden is that we can go

to school to learn to read and write. How do

you think it is in other countries?

Maria: I don't believe that everyone can go to

school.

Teacher: By the way, what do you think is the most

important thing to learn in school?

Maria: To learn to read and write.

Maria has sensed that the teacher thinks that the most important thing in school is to learn to read and write. This type of answer is usual in school settings where the child is used to the teacher waiting for the one right answer.

These types of answers have shown that one must be very observant in an interview or one will be placed in a situation where one has an interview full of fabrications and suggestions about



ending the situation. Sometimes, however, these fantasies can provide something that can be interesting. If one plays around with the children's fantasy world, it is sometimes astonishing how this "make-believe" can be so spontaneous.

Another check on reliability is to seek out how the child comprehends the situation, task, or question which is easy to do through asking the child: "What should you do?" or "What did I ask you about ?"<sup>24</sup>. These questions guarantee some reliability when one hears anticipated responses throughout the interview process and can also be of great value in the interview analysis.

Widening the situation so that one can depend on the answers one receives is important when trying to find thought patterns within the children's answers. Children often give similar responses about their comprehension and their answers can be placed in the same category<sup>1</sup>. How one divides up the children's thought patterns from the answers received is a question of the adult's interpretation and the children's expressions. This implies that in the interpretation of the interview on watching T.V. (earlier), one person may describe the categories in another way. On the other hand, if one gives instructions and descriptions of what the different categories stand for, which we did, the other person could well place the interview responses in categories in the same way. Whether or not they do so is a check on reliability.

When interpreting interviews as one goes through them, it is important to utilize a frame of reference. How much one knows about the child and the conversation with him or her makes it easier to understand what the child says. When interviewing a child with a book, an answer to the question: "What shape is this?" ... "It is a triangle for it has one, two, three, four, five sides, " is wholly incomprehensible unless one had earlier seen the instruction for the children and learned that the way shapes were defined was through counting how many sides and how many corners the shape had. Rattling off what she had earlier learned became central for the child, although that she could not relate it to a specific shape. They had counted sides and corners every time they had seen a shape and the child had seen counting as the essential thing.



The teacher who has established a frame of reference with the children, and constantly meets them and is part of their reality, has a clear advantage in analyzing interview data. There is a demand for sensitivity and openness, but the teacher must also free herself from her old teacher role, in which she merely sought to know if the child's answer was right or wrong.

Is the teacher's interpretation subjective? Naturally it is, coming from within, as she interprets things from her frame of reference and knowledge. The teacher's integration with the children is a subjective reality, which has some positive elements. If the teacher's subjectivity is based upon her work with children and with her understanding of them it is positive.

<sub>51</sub> 55

# Using New Knowledge

In accordance with the 1980 Schools Act, free choice primary school work ought to be connected to what children see from the preschool as valid, and there should also be flowing boundaries between lectures (teacher direction) and free activities. The act made communication between teachers within the pre- and primary schools imperative and teachers now need to develop mutual goals related to the children's learning. Because of this, evaluation in both institutions needs coordination. Child interviews provide a natural and simple means of assistance here. These are conducted in the children's natural environment and teachers come to know children's comprehension and thinking which later becomes helpful in planning.

Another area is parental contact, which is of importance to both pre-school and school. From the school's perspective, two parent conferences per school year are stipulated. Within the pre-school it is not that precise, and it is rather the number of hours a teacher works that is the concern at the moment. At present teachers look forward to informing the parents of pre-school children about how the activities of the pre-school prepare children for school. It is important for parents to know about the contents and methods used in pre-school and school. But it is just as important for teachers hear the parents views. As parents we all know when we tried to help our children with their homework they sometimes said: "No, the teacher does not say we should do it like that!"

## Evaluation-planning

Earlier we gave examples of how children's comprehension of content varies. Before we continue, we will now stop and think about some other examples.

The theme "Other Countries" was studied in a pre-school for a few weeks and was then evaluated. At the end of the second week, the



children were describing to each other which country they would like to travel to:

Ida:

I want to travel to Yugoslavia and visit

grandma again.

Lars:

To the west coast.

The teacher corrected Lars and said that the west coast was not a country and that he should think of something else. Lars couldn't, and irritation arose in the group. Another child said that Lars could say Africa, but Lars really did not understand and just sat quietly. This is an example of evaluation which happens in our work daily, and which can be a help in planning. Important information has been gleaned from what has happened which can help us support Lars to widen his thinking and knowledge. He does not have Ida's concrete experience as a point to start from. We must broaden instruction so that Lars gains comprehension of what a country is if we feel this is important for pre-school children to know.

In another institution working with themes, the children are given a concrete experience as a way of learning about numbers and their relationship to growing peas. The children measured and recorded the growth daily and made comparisons with earlier measurements, and after the unit was finished we interviewed the children. But it appeared that they had a different understanding of what they had talked about and done. Here is part of an example of how the children answered the following question: "What have you learned by measuring the peas and recording the measurements since last time we talked?"

Emma:

We have talked about peas.

Marie:

Different seasons.

Richard:

We talked about which day it is.

Teacher:

Which day is it then?

Richard:

March.

Annelie:

We started to read fairy tales.

Teacher:

Did we do something more than read fairy

tales?

Annelie:

Yes, we talked about what day, what month

and what season it is.



Karin: Yes, we shouldn't be noisy, and about the

seasons.

Lena: About the strips we tore from a paper.

Teacher: Why did you do it?

Lena: So that we only get one piece and then we

could see what month, what date, and what

season it is.

Peter: We counted children and then we measured

peas.

This variety of answers gives the teacher an idea about what has become important to the children. They had seized upon the different things. The focus of many of the children's answers came back to features of the calendar, their behaviour, and fairy tales. The children had not coupled their activities with learning to measure and count. That was not a central idea for the children. A number of questions arise here: How does one develop number concepts so that they are clear for children? What have they understood? How can teachers plan their work more widely so that their goals are understood? Which methods can one use so that the concepts will be understood by the children?

Children think differently because of the various experiences and life situations they have had. Likewise children and adults think differently. Another example of how a child thinks and associates is the following episode which involves the theme "Handicap". At the end of the second week working with this theme, the children answered a question about a handicapped child who was visiting. The conversation led to a question which Lotta was wondering about:

Lotta: Why are fly agarics so poisonous when they

are so red and pretty?

Teacher: (annoyed) Lotta, we are talking about

handicaps.

Lotta: Isn't a fly agaric handicapped then?



There is great difficulty in this instance for the teacher to be clear about what the child has understood. But because of an earlier interview with Lotta where she told us that she had learned from her mother that when one ate one became sick, we were able to fathom out her reasons for posing the question. What is the difference between becoming sick and being handicapped for a preschool child? It is easy for the teacher to dismiss Lotta's question, since from the teacher's perspective it appears to be irrelevant. It is easy to believe that Lotta had not understood or was not listening. Teachers want to believe that children understand what they teach them.

When working with evaluation and planning questions, the teacher must consider which contents the pre-school and school should have. Today one speaks about the different methods one can use in teaching which are discussed first. We believe this is wrong. The first things to discuss ought to be the contents. The central questions to consider are:

- \* Which contents, i. e. which meaning, principles, or ideas should one work with in the pre-school and primary school?
- \* What is the children's understanding of these contents?
- \* How do children learn?
- \* How should teachers arrange the children's experiences?

These questions take on extra importance when we think about a new pupil who came to the leisure centre and described what he had done at school:

Bertil: Today I have learned "b" (makes sound of

"b").

Teacher: But you can already read.

Bertil: No, I am not using b, but "b" (makes sound

again).

Connection between the pre-school and primary school

Aside from organizational issues, two other questions are important to bear in mind when developing connections between pre- and primary school with regard to developing content which



ensures a learning continuity for children. First, what is important work for pre-school children which is also important for the children in primary school? Secondly, is there a time we can see interviews as an aid to understand children's comprehension and thoughts surrounding these contents and how they should be tackled?

To answer these questions we first of all need to understand other questions. If we take a specific area like mathematics concepts, we need to know: What are mathematics concepts for pre-school children? How should one work with them? How do children think about this? Knowledge for teaching about math in the pre-school and primary school can also be determined from the variations in comprehension related to the following question we have posed to young pupils: "Why is it good to be able to count?

Edvin: Becau

Because . .to see how old as person is.

Olle:

You should count when you prepare food.

Teacher:

What do you mean?

Olle:

When you buy food.

Teacher:

What do you need to count to do that?

Olle:

To count food.

Helga:

Because it is hard to go to school.

Teacher:

What do you do in school?

Helga:

Learn to count.

Olga:

Learn to read.

Teacher:

What should one learn to read?

Olga:

You have to go to school. The homework is

hard.

Some of the younger children have no comprehension about things like why we should learn to read or count. On the other hand, school children fall into two groups when they discuss why counting is important; one group says that counting has a practical use and another group says it is a part of school work. These understandings give ideas to teachers in pre-school. We have described earlier how the children's understanding of the goals for learning has meaning for what they in fact will learn. It is not a



good preparation for school if pre-school children form the understanding that it is difficult in school or that one has many difficult maths homework. These things can create anxiety for beginning school.

Children come to school with some idea of what school is for. Likewise, they have an understanding of what it means to learn to read, to write, to count, etc. But what are their opinions like? Many children can already read, write or count when they begin school, so why should they go? How do they think when they solve a simple mathematics task? Is the teacher's method to reproach the child for something he/she has misunderstood? Do we really know how children think?

Some pre-school children were asked the following question: "You have two crowns but want to buy an ice-cream which costs five crowns, how many more crowns do you need?"

Petter: (Raises his hand, puts down two fingers and

sees that there are three left) 3 crowns.

Nina: 3 crowns, for 2 and 2 are 4 and 1 crown

more.

Nils: 3, 4, 5, it becomes 3. (Starts counting at 3)

Lillemor: (Counts 1-5 on fingers, then puts 1-2 fingers

down and then counts the fingers which are

left). I need 3 crowns.

Per: Three becomes 1, 4 becomes 2, 5 becomes 3.

It's 3.

We see that all five pre-school children use completely different ways to come to the same answer. Some children are very direct and use their fingers to help them count higher. The way that Per and Lillemor attack the problem is detailed and time consuming. On the other hand, other children tackle the problem quickly and more rationally. Some questions which Unenge<sup>21</sup> raises are relevant here:

-When must we learn to think as children?

-When must we teach children to think as we do?



When selecting education content matter, teachers must first and foremost attend to how their pupils learn and to understanding things from the children's perspective. This is of primary importance, and not how long one should work with particular subjects. The 1980 law states that the teachers and students should work together to decide how long they will work with a specific task. Therefore teachers should not need to feel the pressure of time, but can take the time they need for every subject. Learning a concept properly takes time and so one must take time! This is as valid for the pre-school child as it is for the primary school child.

#### Parental involvement

Research indicates that parental involvement in their children's school activity influences the children's development in a positive way<sup>25</sup>. Developing effective parental involvement in schooling has become a major concern in many countries.

In a project in London<sup>26</sup> the importance of the parent's engagement in their children's school activities has been profoundly demonstrated. Parents were asked to take time to listen to their children for not less than ten minutes every day, when the children read a part of their reading book. The conclusion arrived at was that these children advanced in their learning of English and developed their reading skills more than those children whose parents did not participate in the project. An interesting aspect of these findings was that the parents were immigrants and could not speak English and therefore did not always understand what their children read. Nevertheless, when the parents listened and were interested there were still positive results.

There are many ways of establishing meaningful contact with parents. Investigations have shown that informal contact works best in general. The bigger and more formal the parent conferences are, the less the parents participate in them. On the other hand, all parents respond to a simple conversation<sup>27</sup>· All parents can become involved with their children's schooling. Our suggestion is that parental contact has to be developed around how the children comprehend things in school and that this should become the starting point for a conversation between parents and teachers. We



teachers need parents to help us appreciate what their children's descriptions of pre-school/school mean to them and what the children describe to us of their life outside of school. If children do not describe the two worlds in and out of school, we need to know why this is so.

How children experience their situation in the pre-school, the leisure centre, the school, and at home reveals how significant these situations are. It does not help if the teacher says that Tina understands things well in school if Tina on occasion cries and does not want to go. What does the teacher really know about the children's sense of plodding through homework or the children's dread of going to school when they have forgotten to do their homework? Would the teacher perhaps be less irritated with Bosse when he had forgotten to do his reading for the third time, if she knew that Bosse had tossed and turned half the night worrying about not understanding the book?

Do the parents think that these incidents are too "trivial" to discuss with the teacher? Do teachers invite parents to offer possibilities to discuss similar "trivialities"? Does one believe as a teacher that one must describe for parents how capable their children are in school because one believes that is what the parents want to hear? Or do we feel the parents only want to hear about the child's intellectual capacity in the traditional formal way?

How rigid are we in our roles as parents and teachers? As a parent, should one appreciate when the teacher talks about how a child gets 20 out of 25 right on a particular test, when what the parents really want to hear is how the teachers and friends feel about their child? Our experience is that the parents soon forget the score on a test, but they always remember episodes where the teacher describes what the children have said or done. Contact between parents and teachers must involve an increased understanding of the child from both perspectives. After all, one should co-operate for the sake of the child and not so that the adults can get to know one another!



### How to use the time available

"What you have shown us is very positive, but how will we have time to do it?" is a response which many teachers have given us after they have read the preceding chapters, for the teacher really understands that the process includes more than just conducting interviews. We shall discuss how and why teachers have to be given time to use these processes in the remainder of this book.

#### Teacher's consciousness

We have written a whole section about children's thinking and why they need to reflect on their experiences in order to develop. This "inner work" must become central to the way we design our programs. We teachers also need to reflect over what we previously had taken for granted and to come to terms with what is deeply meaningful for children. What is meaningful for children and what is not?

Recently an episode happened in a pre-school when a girl was working with her fifth "pre-school book". At an interview it appeared that she had no idea about the whole task and why she should do it. She did it for the teacher's approval. One can suggest a more meaningful form of school preparation, one which does not encourage the chilren's active thinking but one which builds on passive repetition of the teacher's instruction.

How one as a teacher uses the time available is significant here. The teacher that thinks that adjusting oneself to the children's learning is important will help children to develop their thinking around a central concept, principle, or idea. To help the children further their thinking, the teacher will try to develop her consciousness concerning which situations she talks about with children, how she phrases questions, follows up with additional questions and how much time the children get to think completely. Interviews have some meaning for developing an understanding about how children think. Here is another example:



The teacher and children travelled to the market square to buy green vegetables. The children were to choose which of the green vegetables to take home with them. Stefan could not choose which vegetable he wanted and was going home without any. Presumably Stefan could have made a choice if the teacher had taken time to discuss with him which vegetable he liked. This is an example where the teacher on a field trip did not take the time to help the children reflect and make a decision.

On another occasion the teacher and children took a trip to the beach, where the children made a collection of things they found there. The teacher went around and looked at what the children had collected. She paused and asked each child: "How many things have you got?" When the child had counted his articles and answered the teacher, she was already on her way to another child. It is important to ask the children questions, but it is just as important to take time to listen to the children's answers and follow-up with new questions to help them broaden their thinking.

This consciousness is something that we as teachers must have both for ourselves and for the children. How often do we not break up a group of children which we think is "too big", without first stopping to listen to them? Could it be that we don't give ourselves time to listen to them and what they have to say?

## Planning-Organization

It is not always possible, even with the best tactics, to only work at interviewing individual children. It is therefore important to complete an overview of the working moments which arise in the day's activities. Is the teacher always alone or are there times during the day when there are many people? Are the children always working freely in the pre-school and with "lessons" in the primary school? Is there time when children are occupied with different play and work tasks? When is it valid to have different times to converse with a little group or a single child?

In the pre-school and the leisure centre as well as the primary school, children are conversing in groups for much of the time. There are periods of group work, conversation, creative activities,



outdoor play, breaks and pre-school free play, in which one can actively go in as the teacher and learn to know how children think.

Earlier we gave two examples from conversations in the preschool where we had had discussions with children about the themes "Handicap" and "Other Countries". Both of these examples show us that it is not always necessary to arrange a special situation to probe children's thinking, for on these occasions conversation periods gave us the opportunity to get information. Both during the lessons in school or during the day's activities in the pre-school, there are many opportunities which arise to do this naturally. If one sees that it is of great importance and meaning to become aware of the children's thoughts, one finds it easier to be observant of the possibilities to invite children to spontaneously give information.

If there does not seem to be the time or the possibility to listen to the children's reflections before other children become restless, it may be that there is too large a group. Maybe one must organize this so that some children have individual tasks to do while the teacher discusses with others.

When children are active and creative, building, experimenting, role playing, reading, writing and counting, etc, excellent occasions arise for teachers to talk with or interview children. Then there is a concrete situation which one can use to talk about. We can organize work during break-time in school or with children in outdoor play at the pre-school, go round and see why individual children are noisy, and take time to talk with children about what they have done. When we go for a walk in the woods or go out on a field trip and we can follow this up by talking about what the children have found fascinating instead of being satisfied that we have given children information and then hope that they have heard and understood.

## Profit for pedagogy

When teachers have reviewed their planning and organization, it becomes important to set priorities. To have the understanding of



the children as a priority ought to be self-evident, but to actually do this is hard work for the individual teacher.

To interview or to gain information through structured conversation with a single child or a group of children must be seen as a natural part of the work and not something intruding on it. The only essential principle is that the teacher must know what it is that she wants to know about. To be effective, one must take every opportunity to gather information to aid the children in their development. Just now they are not. For instance, as leisure educators often point out, teachers misunderstand outdoor play in the yard. They don't get involved in it and don't ask questions about it and hence don't have a clue about what happens there. From the adult's perspective, children's play is seen as meaningless hopping and climbing. If the teacher knew about children's understanding, they could on occasion give the children new play materials and new information which could result in more developmental play.

There are some obstacles which inhibit the teacher's willingness and opportunity to engage in outdoor activities with children. Some teaching groups have 16 to 21 children, and teachers believe that it is too difficult to go out. They often have many good arguments about why the children should go out during the day, and the teacher never told the children about these arguments and the rule "we must go out for some fresh air". Teachers rarely follow-up what happens at play-time, unless there's been a fight or accident, and do not use this as developmental time.

The interview is a way to learn about children and can also be seen as a goal in an educational sense. This implies that if one talks with children about things which they never before have thought about, it is imperative that the child begins to think about what one has told them. For example, a child who at the first interview situation had difficulty coming up with something he had learned, came bouncing back a few weeks later, stating that he had learned the whole alphabet over the weekend. Through the questions teachers ask during the interview, children begin to think about issues i.e. their thinking is influenced.

At another interview a girl answered that she had never needed to think about how much an ice-cream cost and should not count



money, for that is what her mother did. After a few weeks, when we visited the school again, she said: "Now I have thought, for I began to pay with mummy's change. I have learned to count now." Even in this situation the interviewer's questions influenced the child in her consciousness of what it meant to count.

Through thinking and reflecting, the child must learn. Teachers must see to it that the children have experiences where they use their capacity to think and must create situations where children are challenged. Developing activities which hinge onto the child's out of school experiences could be beneficial. But firstly teachers need to come to know what those experiences are.

Donaldson<sup>28</sup> has seen that children can think at more advanced levels if the problem has to do with the children's world. She refers to how children solve Piaget's "mountain test" which seeks to determine how children see things from perspectives different from their own. The children are given a three dimensional model of three mountains. It is placed in front of them and they are asked to choose the picture (from three) which shows how the mountain looks from the side opposite them. Children under six often choose the picture which shows the mountain from their own point of view. Piaget interpreted this to mean that children are egocentric and lack the capacity to see things from another person's perspective. Donaldson broadened this interpretation by seeking information using a whole different set of concepts. Here the child is given a model with four roads which make a cross shape, where a thief could come where he would not be seen by the police. In this test approximately 90% of the children between 3 1/2 and 5 years solved the problem and showed they could see another perspective, i. e. the policeman's perspective. That children in this situation could clearly work with the problem depended, according to Donaldson, on the police-thief situation which was familiar and part of every day life for all the children.



## Discussion

All adults have learned that Newton discovered that an apple falling from a tree depended not on the fact that it was heavier than air, but because of the earth's force of gravity. This is the representation based on scientific knowledge. Although we all know that, there is some inner sense that represents the apple's fall as dependent on how heavy it is. The latter representation is an everyday representation which we have created through our experience.

## School world and everyday world

Studies<sup>29</sup> show that one acquires a scientific thinking pattern in school as a form of comprehension which applies to the school's world. Often, however, one has eradicated everyday representations which one has met in another way. This implies that one can sometimes receive conflicting interpretations of a phenomenon. School is a world in which children learn that certain things are valid only there i.e. that one does not learn how to live outside of school. Maybe there is a clash between everyday representations and scholarly ones. In any case, children often do not have an opportunity to tie together the things they have learned in school with things in their own "world".

If everyday representations and school representations are to be integrated in a single understanding, we must begin early in the pre-school and primary school. Children must gain experiences in education which are relevant even for their lives outside of school. Children have many experiences of everyday situations, but if these experiences are to develop to knowledge and understanding, then children must get the help and be given the opportunities they need to reflect on their experiences.

To illustrate the disintegration of life in and out of school we can imagine a pre-school child who eats breakfast at her pre-school. In a bowl on the table are slices of tomato. When breakfast is over, the



teacher and the group of children go to their little "corner" to have a conversation and are told that that day they will go to buy some vegetables. The tomatoes which had been taken away were discussed and talked about. It is not strange if children begin to doubt if they learn anything in pre-school which has something to do with their own "world". Why not use breakfast time to teach children about tomatoes? We need to develop the sensitivity and skill to deal with mathematics, English, etc. in relation to the children's experiences, so children can relate what they learn in school to their own "world?"

We said earlier that children possess a great capacity to solve problems if they are tied to their own experiences, which is perhaps the single reason why the child understands what it is about. We have widely declared that children find it easier to express and describe their thoughts if the questions which are asked are relevant to their own experiences.

## Children's spontaneous questions

Children ask many questions. The questions they ask can at times cause adults to be amazed and may range from the smallest trivialities to philosophical speculations. When children ask adults questions, the best starting point for the adults if they are to engage in a one-to-one dialogue with the children, is discussing the children's disclosures. What is it the child really wants to know when they ask a question? Let us look at Mirjam who questioned her teacher in the following way:

Mirjam: How did the first man arise Miss?

Teacher: What, arise. . .?

Mirjam: How did they begin to grow?

Teacher: We don't really know. Some people think

that man developed from the apes, while others believe that they have been created.

Mirjam: That isn't so.

Teacher: How do you believe they have arisen?

Mirjam: From an egg.
Teacher: Why from an egg?



Mirjam: A hen's egg (laughs). A grass man came out

who later developed into a real man. The

first men were stone age men.

(After a long discussion about stone age men and what

people know about them, Mirjam says:)

Mirjam: I don't want to answer your questions.

Teacher: But you are asking me a lot..

Mirjam: Yes, but you did not answer my question

about how the first men arose?

Teacher: Yes, I don't know for sure, but I think that

people developed from apes.

Mirjam: Then I was right when I thought there were

many ape men who became stone age

people.

At first glance, Mirjam's question was a representation of deep thought about the development of mankind. But as the conversation continued, we saw that she already had a clear idea that people had grown from an egg and had then become ape people and stone age people. This was really only an idea which she wanted to have confirmed, she was not susceptible to any other idea. It is easy for adults to impose all their knowledge on what the children ask, but the child's questions are frequently asked in a way and at such a level that the children cannot understand the adult's explanations. Naturally one should answer questions which the children ask, and it is rewarding to find out what the children are really asking. The children's spontaneous questions disclose their thinking in a natural way.

Now of course there is much that one can learn through children's spontaneous pondering as they experience many things. We often hear from teachers who believe that children can think much more than they can express. However, we are not attempting to decipher the connection between speech and thought, because that is one of the fundamental problems of psychology, where there are many conflicts of opinion. We do feel though that children have different capacities to express themselves verbally and that they neither spontaneously search after nor are in a condition to communicate



their whole world of thought. We also believe that when a child cannot express their thoughts about something, it often depends on the fact that they have not had opportunities to reflect on these thoughts earlier, or that maybe they have not been given time or help to do so. We saw in an earlier chapter how a child could connect counting with shopping. This child had depended on her mother to do it, and the child never needed to think about how it was done.

Children think about many phenomena spontaneously and these we ought to naturally use both to *learn something about the children and to teach children something*. There are, however, many things which we adults have determined as important for children to learn. Teachers must guide the child's thoughts about these concepts, principles, and ideas.

### The role of the teacher

In order to understand children, we must understand how children think. Teachers must understand that even in what superficially seems to be a homogeneous children's group, there are many different levels of thought and this knowledge must be used when one teaches them. From the teacher's point of view, it may seem that one response is more correct than another, but teachers must try to understand the child's perspective and then go beyond whether something is right or wrong. All types of thinking are logical and obvious if one views them within the experiences the children have. To take their situation and to help children think about incidents from their lives is wonderful. Likewise it is natural that there is a point when children comprehend something and that something becomes obvious to them. Children often consider things from one point of view because they do not have the developmental capacity to see the relativity in existence.

Teachers also consider the influence of the child's environment to be obvious at times. However, this is not because they have not achieved relativity but because their jobs as teachers have become an everyday reality. Teachers have themselves been children who have gone to school and even to pre-school. Then they have narrowed their appreciation of broader issues through training to



become a teacher. Finally they have been socialized to be a "good" teacher out in school<sup>30</sup>.

To become clear about their own "understanding processes" implies that one must struggle over a particular concept until it becomes obvious. It is difficult, sometimes almost impossible, to become clear while remaining alone. But through listening to how children have understood what one has said or done, one automatically gets a response to one's matter of course.

When one engages in interaction with a someone, it quickly becomes evident if one has different "knowledge grasping levels". If, on the other hand, teachers have a huge group of children, this diversity of knowledge levels is often concealed. When communication is coupled with "knowledge level understanding", the teacher can assure herself that she has made her own "knowledge grasping levels" visible to the children.

The teacher's task is to influence the children's thought development but it by no means helps to tell a child to think in another way. The children must accomplish this for themselves. For example, if a child has a heavy piece of wood that sinks and a light piece that floats, it is easy to arrange another experiment where what appears to be obvious to the child is not the way the objects behave. Children learn through concrete situations, but the concepts are not obvious unless the experience is followed up. The teacher must ask questions and observe what children do. Through their own experiences and activities they must learn the consequences of things.

Piaget<sup>31</sup> points out that children with different types of problem solving abilities first observe the *result* which happen and then reflect over the *process*, i. e. over how something happens. Thus, when children have a reading task, as a teacher one must offer them the opportunity to first describe and then reflect over what they have read. As earlier, where we pointed out that when one result exists one ought to help the children observe "why something behaves as it does" by looking at conflicting events to broaden their reflections, and this also applies to reading.

Something which ought to be used more and is being used today, is to give pre-school children the task of teaching another child



something. When one can demonstrate or clarify something for somebody else, it implies that one is forced to think about what one should teach. If the child itself does not understand, this often becomes obvious when they attempt to teach something to somebody else<sup>6</sup>. To give children problems which are challenging for the children's thinking is one role which the teacher has. Another way to receive and hold on to the child's thoughts. These two aspects of the teacher's work go hand in hand with each another.

Issacs<sup>32</sup> describes in her book on children's intellectual development a situation in one pre-school which we want to present here:

A teacher and her group of children come to the pre-school on a Monday morning. In the rabbit hutch, a rabbit lay on the floor. The children began to think about whether the rabbit is dead or only asleep. One child bursts out: "My dad said that if an animal is dead it will float in water." The teacher puts water in a bowl. The rabbit floats. Then the children asked new questions like: "What did it die of? Did it starve to death? Did we forget to fill its tray with food?" etc. The teacher and children decide that they should find out if the rabbit did starve to death. They discuss the rabbit with great interest. The children discover that the fur coat and the rabbit's skin have the same pattern. They discover how all of the intestines look. Lastly they look at the stomach and open it up. There they find masses of leftover food so they know that the rabbit did not starve to death. They pick the rabbit up and bury it in the ground. Time passed. One morning a child said suddenly: "Has the rabbit travelled up to heaven now". "No, it hasn't," said another child. A far-reaching conversation arose. Together with the teacher they decide that they want to know what happened to the rabbit. Together they go out to the grave and see the rabbit lying there. "But maybe the soul is in heaven. . . "

This example shows how *one* teacher used her role to help children develop their intellectual capacity with great understanding for the world in which they live. Perhaps this episode seems barbaric for the Swedish pre-school where one is not often allowed to have animals, and people think that dissection is strange. There are however many similar situations which arise every day, where



adults can help children find answers to their questions and which likewise support their development.

In the primary school in the 1980's, the following happened: Egil worked through a lesson in the mathematics book which asked him to learn to write numbers in words. Later he had a test which had these instructions: "Write the following numerals in words" 825, 3201, 10236 etc." Egil wrote: eight-hundred-twenty-six, three-thousand-two-hundred-two, ten-thousand-two-hundred-thirty-seven, etc. When Egil got the test back, it had a red mark by every number. Can this be construed to mean that his thinking had failed? Is Egil's thinking wrong? Or is it perhaps the teacher who was wrong? If we free ourselves from the idea that something must be either right or wrong, then we should use this as example for a discussion about the role of the teacher.

We believe that only the individual teacher herself can determine what she should do about her understanding and knowledge about children's thinking. But if the teacher understood how Egil had interpreted "following numeral" in the above example, it becomes a delicate question whether she should not, in this case, give the child credit for a right answer.

Understanding how children think through their responses to questions provides the starting point for the role of a teacher which takes its starting point in the children's perspective, and hopefully can come to place the child and his/her development in focus. One can perhaps receive further food for thought through noting what Beth said when she met her speech therapist one afternoon:

Therapist: Now, Beth, have you learned anything in

school today?

Beth: No, today I have not learned anything at all,

because the teacher talked the whole day.

### Evaluating

Teachers need to evaluate their work. This evaluation can be done in many ways. One way which we recommend is interviewing children after the completion of each section of work to gain a



7

picture of how the children have comprehended the instructions. This is different to the established way of evaluating, where the teachers evaluate what is a right or wrong answer, and instead looks firmly at the qualitative aspects of the answer. In the different chapters we have given examples of the qualitatively different answers which children give and which can in their turn give teachers an understanding of how children comprehend their surrounding world. A prerequisite for knowing the differences that exist is that we question children and accept that they have qualitative differences in thinking. When one accepts this, there are then many possibilities for being sensitive to the information one receives from everyday situations in the pre-school and primary school.

Because of the importance of this, one should keep in mind that a valid evaluation, whatever the children's comprehension of certain material or subjects etc., is the expression of the children's logic; i. e. children are always logical from their own experimental base. Children often react if they recognize something they know and is obvious to them. They can concentrate on part of a situation and understand a part which stands out from the whole. Adults consider children illogical because adults and children do not have the same logical processes. Children's thinking is not "inferior" to that of adults, but they do think differently.

To systematically evaluate becomes impossible if piece-meal approaches are used in the pre-school, leisure centre and primary school. There should be consistency here and we recommend interviews to ensure that consistency. In the pre-school and the leisure centre there are many adults who can go through the interview process. In the primary school there are not so many adults, but there are outside persons who are specialists who can help in this regard. Perhaps one does not even need to interview every child after every unit of teaching. Themes in the pre-school often only extend over short time periods. Perhaps it is sufficient to interview a selection of children after each unit rather than all of them.

The most important aspect of an evaluation in this form (interview) is that the teacher generates new knowledge, i. e. teachers receive responses about their work from which they can build their



knowledge of child development. When the teacher understands what and how children have understood what they work with, a starting point for continuation in their work may be established. The broader an understanding one has of children's thinking, the better one can work with children. To understand the relationship between one's own thoughts as a teacher and the children's comprehension of concepts is the nucleus of teaching.

Experiences which teachers have had with this form of evaluation can be illustrated as follows:

Ture: I learned more about certain children in a 15

minute interview than I did through having the child in my group for a year and a half.

Britta: I came to know much about the child and not

only what she had learned about the theme

we had worked with.

Ulla: We discovered that we should have done

some interviews about the topic also, for we waited so long that the children had a difficult time remembering what we had

done in the beginning.

Ebbe: We described the interview evaluations

which we had done for the parents and they became very interested and felt that we

should do them regularly

Ida: We used what we had received from the

interviews as a starting point for the parent

conferences.

Eva: I discovered that I should have been clearer

about what I wanted to know from the interview and that I should have made up a

few questions throughout.

Lasse: I realised afterwards that interviews should

have been conducted in a private, partitioned place in the child care centre or when the remaining children were in the playground, for all the sounds from the other

children were recorded on the tape and it

was difficult to understand what the child said.

As we see from the foregoing statements, teachers have different experiences in interviewing their children. Certain teachers had thought that it would have been both difficult and tedious to interview children, so some we have come into contact with have been both positive and surprised about what they gained both for themselves as teachers and for children, especially as it applies to the children's world of thought.

#### Co-operating

The pre-school and the school have different criteria of effectiveness.<sup>33</sup> Not only do they have different traditions, but even their views of how children learn and develop are different. The basis for pre-school effectiveness and tradition rests on a mature theory first developed by Froebel<sup>34</sup> and later developed through the theories of Gesell<sup>35</sup>. This view implies that children develop through their own activity and through the teacher's creation of a stimulating environment.

The school's view is that children think in line with traditional learning theories<sup>36</sup> and learn to respond to the stimulus provided by the teacher for the children. The teachers pass knowledge onto the children, and whether the child can grasp this depends on their individual capacity. The child is seen as a passive individual to which the teacher transmit knowledge.

More recently there has been a change<sup>18</sup> regarding the theoretical base for pre-school effectivity. The traditional views of development have been distanced and a new viewpoint regarding children has grown forth from the interaction theories. With regard to intellectual development, the theories arose from the work of Jean Piaget. In relation to children's emotional development, the theories arose from the work of E.H. Erikson.

The point of view about children's development and learning which came from the Child Care Centre Official Investigation Report has come to influence later reports and analyses, even regarding the school's effectiveness. Today some guidelines for



both pre-school and school effectiveness are shared regarding the children's development and learning. The practical results, however, are still greatly influenced by the earlier traditions. As Wiechel<sup>37</sup> has observed, teachers from the two stages have different starting points for their judgements about children. Teachers in the school base their judgements on levels of intellectual capacity, while teachers in the pre-schools relate much to emotional difficulties.

Official aims must be developed in schools in relation to the practical everyday reality inside the different types of school. Arriving at a common goal for children may be no easy matter, and if children and their development are to be at the centre, then teachers have to think what are the similarities and differences in the children's levels of thinking which are related to concepts studied in pre-school and school, and must use the information which comes out of both levels. If the teachers become involved in interviewing their children about learning, mathematics, reading, outdoor exercise and play, time and space, etc., they could analyze these interviews on preparation days and together interpret and describe how children think about these content areas. This would be a wonderful opportunity for teachers to work together, to develop a spectrum of understanding about the children's world of thought and for reassigning mutually considered areas of responsibility.

What do pre-school children think about starting school? What can primary school children remember about starting school? These and similar questions could lead to co-operation where children of different levels could meet and confront each other's ideas. Many pre-school children are afraid of the "bigger" school children. Perhaps the pre-school children have heard the school children describe when they started school. The teachers at the different levels could learn a lot about their children through attempting to know the children's perspective and seeking to understand how children see their surrounding world.

From time to time we have heard from the leisure centre teachers that their children after a time in school have begun to lose interest after the children come to know that what they are doing is not what they expected, namely to write, read and count. This can be a



sign that there is a shortage of co-operation, which for the children causes them to relive experiences from pre-school.

Teachers must work with children from within their own needs and thoughts and not depend on information received through expectations stated by parents, colleagues, etc. Often the teachers in the pre-school do certain things with the children because they believe that the children's parents, or the teachers in the primary school, desire these things. In the primary school teachers believe that the middle primary school teachers have certain expectations. Our different expectations must be reassessed so that the children benefit. Placing the children first instead of living up to expectations implies that at every working moment we consider the child's needs first. This point is a guideline for pre-school as well as school.

Valid co-operation between pre-school and school, leisure centre and school or between parents and teachers is central to achieving this standard, but it is still in the early stages of development. There is some legislation, but as Randolph Norberg, pre-school and school committee secretary, said at a meeting in Göteborg in 1984, co-operation can never be achieved through legislation alone. Attitudes have to be addressed and positive attitudes developed.

Bärbel Inhelder, Piaget's long-time research colleague, said at a lecture in Geneva in the summer of 1983 that Piaget never concerned himself that much with the pedagogical consequences of his research, but one can clearly see three ways in which it has been used in the contexts we describe:

- \* One can use Piaget's research results to work out children's thinking patterns.
- \* As a foundation for planning appropriate levels of teaching in relation to the age of the children.
- \* To understand that it is important and useful to seriously consider children's understanding of their surrounding world and
- \* To work from the children's own creative capacity and continue from there, as Piaget has done.



Inhelder pointed out that she believed that the function which Piaget would have desired for his work was the third; i. e. that pedagogues would take his theories as guidelines rather than using a specific result.

We support Norberg and Inhelder's ideas and take them as the starting point for co-operation between the levels of school as well as between parents and teachers. The child and his/her world of thought must be central, which implies that we attempt to point out a guideline for thinking rather than suggesting a complete formula. The groundwork for this can be established on the basis of a solid understanding of children's thinking. This can be achieved by going through, analyzing, and drawing conclusions from interviews with children.

Perhaps this book can inspire and help teachers to try to understand how children think, so that their work with every child will improve. Understanding children involves more than just reading their writing. To attain it we believe one must go through a practical application of what we have accounted for here. We hope that all teachers will undertake this work joyfully. We promise excitement and informative discovery, and new, interesting, fertile and profitable teaching development.

81

#### References

- 1) Piaget, J. The child's conception of the world. New Jersey:Litterfield, Adams & Co, 1975.
- 2) Socialstyrelsen. Förslag till pedagogiskt program för förskolan. Stockholm: Liber Förlag, 1983.
- 3) Lgr 80. Läroplanen i arbete. Stockholm: Liber Utbildningsförlaget, 1980.
- 4) Norberg, R. Samverkan, samarbete eller integration? Ur Barns behov av vuxnas samarbete. Stockholm: Liber Utbildningsförlaget, 1983.
- 5) Rye, H. Barnehagetillbud for barn i "risiko" for psykosociale utviklingsproblemer. Oslo: Sentralinstitutet for Cerebral Parese, 1982-1983.
- 6) Donaldson, M. Early Childhood Development and Education. Oxford: Basil Blackwell, 1983.
- 7) Säljö, R. Learning and understanding. Göteborg: Acta Universitatis Gothoburgensis, 1982.
- 8) Francis, H. Learning to read. London: Allen & Unsin, 1982.
- 9) Leimar, U. Läsning på talets grund. Lund: Liber Läromedel, 1974.
- 10) Pramling, I. *The child's conception of learning*. Göteborg: Acta Universitatis Gothoburgensis, 1983.
- 11) Pramling, I. Some preliminary observations of differences in the conception of learning among Indian and Swedish children. Pedagogiska institutionen, Göteborgs universitet (manus), 1981.
- 12) Dahlgren, G. & Olsson, L. E. Läsning ur förskolebarnets och lågstadiebarnets perspektiv. Ur Barns behov av vuxnas samarbete. Stockholm: Liber Utbildningsförlaget, 1983.



82

- 13) Doverborg-Österberg, E. Barns uppfattningar av matematik. Pedagogiska institutionen, Göteborgs universitet (manus), 1985.
- 14) Sinclair, A. The child's conception of language. New York: Springer Verlag, 1978.
- 15) Furth, H. The world of grown-ups. New York: Elsevier,1980.
- 16) Feldman, D. H. Beyond universals in cognitive development New Jersey: Ablex, 1980.
- 17) Magnusson, I. M, Pramling, I. Teman: färg och form på förskolan. Pedagogiska institutionen, Göteborgs universitet (manus), 1981.
- 18) SOU 1972:26. Förskolan Del 1. Betänkande avgivet av 1968 års barnstugeutredning-BU. Stockholm: Liber Allmänna Förlaget, 1972.
- 19) Broddeus, B. och Moberg, I. Lågstadiebarnets tänkande om skola och kunskap. Cl-uppsats Pedagogiska institutionen, Göteborgs universitet, 1984.
- 20) Pramling, I. The child's conception of learning a phonenumber. Pedagogiska institutionen, Göteborgs universitet (manus), 1984.
- 21) Unenge. J. Matematikdidaktik för klasslärare. Jönköping: Mapro Matematikprodukter, 1984.
- 22) Lundgren, U. Frame factors and the teaching process. Göteborg: Acta Gothoburgensis, 1972.
- 23) Weikart, D.P, Roger, L. & Adock, C. The cognitively oriented curriculum. A framework for preschool teachers. Urbana, Illinois: University of Illinois, 1971.
- 24) Hundeide, K. Barns livsverden. (manus) 1985.
- 25) van der Eyken, W. *Barn i Europa*. Stockholm: Liber Utbildningsförlaget, 1984.
- 26) Tizard, B. et al. *Involving parents in nursery and infant school*. London: Grant MacIntyre, 1981.
- 27) Flising, L., Kärrby, G. *Föräldrarna och skolan*. Stockholm: Liber Utbildningsförlaget, 1983.



- 28) Donaldson, M. Hur barn tänker. Lund: Liber Förlag, 1983.
- 29) Brumby, M. N. Students' perceptions and learning styles associated with the concept of evolution of natural selection. Unpublished doctoral dissertation. University of Surrey, Great Britain, 1979.
- 30) Hänsel, D. Die Anpassung des Lehrers. Zur Socialization in der Berufspraxis. Weinheim und Basel: Beltz Verlag, 1975.
- 31) Piaget, J. The grasp of consciousness. Cambridge, Mas.: Harvard University Press, 1976.
- 32) Issacs, S. Intellectual growth in young children. London: Routledge, 1930.
- 33) Johansson, J. E. Svensk förskola en tillbakablick. Stockholm: Liber Förlag, 1983.
- 34) Morgenstern, L. Barndomens paradis, Örebro: Lindh, 1867.
- 35) Gesell, A. & Ilg, F. Barnens värld och vår. Stockholm: Natur & Kultur, 1961.
- 36) Hill, W. Learning. *A survey of psychological interpretations*. London: Methuen, 1980.
- 37) Wiechel, A. Olika personalgruppers åsikter om barn i förskola och på lågstadium. Lund: Gleerups, 1981.



Tryckt & Bunden Vasastadens Bokbinderi AB Göteborg 1993

BEST COPY AVAILABLE



# Rapporter från Institutionen för metodik i lärarutbildningen GÖTEBORGS UNIVERSITET

Editors:
Jan Bengtsson Tomas Kroksmark Ingrid Pramling

- 1. Mikael Alexandersson & Åsa Morberg: En nationell nulägesbeskrivning av metodikämnet. Göteborg 1993. 35 sidor.
- 2. Jan Bengtsson & Tomas Kroksmark: *Allmänmetodik. Allmändidaktik. Ett bidrag till en ämnesbestämning*. Göteborg 1993. 100 sidor.
- 3. Tomas Kroksmark: *Didaskalos. Didaktik vid vår tideräknings början*. Göteborg 1993. 260 sidor.
- 4. Ann-Charlotte Mårdsjö: Barn och trafik. Ett utvecklingsarbete i förskola och lågstadium. Göteborg 1993. 69 sidor.
- 5. Elisabet Doverborg & Ingrid Pramling: To Understand Childrens Thinking. Methods for Interviewing Children. Göteborg 1993. 70 sidor.



ISBN 91 88510 08 5





#### U.S. Department of Education

Office of Educational Research and Improvement (OERI) National Library of Education (NLE) Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC)



(over)

## REPRODUCTION RELEASE

	(Specific Document)	
I. DOCUMENT IDENTIFICATION	l:	
Title: TO UNDERSTAND CA	PILDRENS THINKING	HETHODS FOR
Author(s): DOVE RBORG, ELIS.	<del>-</del>	VGRID
Corporate Source:		Publication Date:
GÖTEBOLG UNIVERSITY: DE	EPARTHENT OF HETHODOL	064 1993
II. REPRODUCTION RELEASE:		
monthly abstract journal of the ERIC system, Reand electronic media, and sold through the ERIC reproduction release is granted, one of the follow.  If permission is granted to reproduce and dissert	sources in Education (RIE), are usually made C Document Reproduction Service (EDRS), ing notices is affixed to the document.	he educational community, documents announced in the available to users in microfiche, reproduced paper copy. Credit is given to the source of each document, and, if
of the page.  The sample sticker shown below will be affixed to all Level 1 documents	The sample sticker shown below will be affixed to all Level 2A documents	The sample sticker shown below will be affixed to all Level 2B documents
PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE AND DISSEMINATE THIS MATERIAL HAS BEEN GRANTED BY	PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE AND DISSEMINATE THIS MATERIAL IN MICROFICHE, AND IN ELECTRONIC MEDIA FOR ERIC COLLECTION SUBSCRIBERS ON HAS BEEN GRANTED BY	PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE AND DISSEMINATE THIS MATERIAL IN
TO THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)	TO THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)	TO THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)
Level 1	Level 2A	Level 2B
		1
Check here for Level 1 release, permitting reproduction and dissemination in microfiche or other ERIC archival media (e.g., electronic) and paper copy.	Check here for Level 2A release, permitting reproduction and dissemination in microfiche and i electronic media for ERIC archival collection subscribers only	Check here for Level 2B release, permitting n reproduction and dissemination in microfiche only
Documer If permission to rep	nts will be processed as indicated provided reproduction of roduce is granted, but no box is checked, documents will	quality permits. be processed at Level 1.
I hereby grant to the Educational Resources indicated above. Reproduction from	arces Information Center (ERIC) nonexclusive point the ERIC microfiche or electronic media by a copyright holder. Exception is made for non-point in response to discrete inquiries.  Printed to the company of the comp	permission to reproduce and disseminate this document persons other than ERIC employees and its system rofit reproduction by libraries and other service agencies  Name/Position/Title:  SKID PRAMLING SAMUELSON, PROF
ERIC BOX 300, SE-405	NVERSIFY, IPD, Telephon +41118	317132961 746317732391

SWEDEN

#### III. DOCUMENT AVAILABILITY INFORMATION (FROM NON-ERIC SOURCE):

If permission to reproduce is not granted to ERIC, or, if you wish ERIC to cite the availability of the document from another source, please provide the following information regarding the availability of the document. (ERIC will not announce a document unless it is publicly available, and a dependable source can be specified. Contributors should also be aware that ERIC selection criteria are significantly more stringent for documents that cannot be made available through EDRS.)

Publisher/Distributor	•
Address:	
Price:	
	AL OF ERIC TO COPYRIGHT/REPRODUCTION RIGHTS HOLDER: this reproduction release is held by someone other than the addressee, please provide the appropriate name a
Name:	
Address:	

#### V. WHERE TO SEND THIS FORM:

Send this form to the following ERIC Clearinghouse: \*Karen E. Smith, Acquisitions Coordinator

**ERIC/EECE** 

Children's Research Center

University of Illinois

51 Gerty Dr.

Champaign, Illinois, U.S.A. 61820-7469

However, if solicited by the ERIC Facility, or if making an unsolicited contribution to ERIC, return this form (and the document being contributed) to:

#### **ERIC Processing and Reference Facility**

1100 West Street, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor Laurel, Maryland 20707-3598

Telephone: 301-497-4080 Toll Free: 800-799-3742 FAX: 301-953-0263 e-mail: ericfac@inet.ed.gov

WWW: http://ericfac.piccard.csc.com

EFF-088 (Rev. 9/97)

